
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Tuesday 14 September 2021 
 

Council 
 

Wednesday 22 September 2021, 7.00 pm 
 

Rawnsley Hall, Keswick 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Chair) Councillor Allan Daniels (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong 
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Carmel Bell 
Councillor Herbert Briggs Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Cook 
Councillor John Crouch Councillor Janet Farebrother 
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Peter Gaston 
Councillor Patrick Gorrill Councillor Iain Greaney 
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Michael Heaslip 
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Vaughan Hodgson 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Mike Johnson 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Peter Kendall 
Councillor Alan Kennon Councillor Janet King 
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride Councillor Sally Lansbury 
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Peter Little 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Louise Maguire 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Owen Martin 
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Antony McGuckin 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Alan Pitcher 
Councillor Joe Sandwith Councillor Blain Sansom 
Councillor Paul Scott Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Colin Sharpe Councillor Alan Smith 
Councillor Stephen Stoddart Councillor Kevin Thurlow 
Councillor Alan Tyson Councillor Will Wilkinson 
Councillor Lynda Williams  
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting although numbers may be 
restricted due to Covid distancing.  

If you have any questions or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502. 

 
 
 



Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

 To agree as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held on 28 July 
2021. 

  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded. 

  

5. Questions and Petitions   
 

 To answer questions under Procedural Rule No. 4.16 from members of the 
public and from Councillors under Procedural Rule No. 4.17 and to receive 
Petitions under Access to Information Rules. 

  

6. Notices of Motion   
 

 Four Motions on Notice have been received as follows:- 
 

1. Councillor Alan Smith submitted the following motion for the 28 July 2021 
meeting which was then deferred to the next ordinary meeting of Council 
–  

 
‘Council notes that the Bill to introduce a requirement for photo ID to be 
produced by electors at polling stations is in Parliament. Even though this 
is a sledgehammer to crack a peanut, as the number of cases of 
personation at elections in recent years is in single figures, the Council 
agrees it needs to be prepared for it to become law, and for the possibility 
of an election taking place very soon afterwards.   

 
Council asks the Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) to take all possible 
steps to ensure that all electors are directly informed of this requirement: 
that they are informed of what is acceptable as ID; and that electors who 
do not have that ID are issued with ID Cards by the Council as soon as 
possible when the law takes effect.  

 
In taking these actions, the ERO and the Council is aware of and 
complies with its requirement under the public sector equality duty, and 
also honours the requirement of Part One of the Equality Act, not yet in 
force, to reduce any disadvantage from socio-economic circumstances’. 

 
2. Councillor Hilary Harrington submitted the following motion –  

 
‘Improving the lives of Travellers and Gypsies 
 



Council recognises the issues faced by the Traveller and Gypsy 
community and resolves to work to deliver positive change in the 
experiences and outcomes of Travellers and Gypsies in Allerdale.  
 
Allerdale Borough Council notes that the Local Plan Part 2 was approved 
in July 2020 and now we identify five key areas where work must be taken 
forward to improve experiences and outcomes for Travellers and 
Gypsies in Allerdale, a group who are protected by the Equality Act 2010: 
 
1 Provide some accommodation space 
2 Improve their access to public services 
3 Better incomes in and out of work 
4 Tackle racism and discrimination; and 
5 Improve Traveller and Gypsy representation 
 
Allerdale Borough Council therefore resolves to work to deliver positive 
change in the experiences and outcomes of Travellers and Gypsies in 
Allerdale by requesting to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
undertake policy development and pre scrutiny work around Allerdale 
Borough Council’s priorities in implementing a Gypsy and Traveller site’. 
 

 
3. Councillor George Kemp submitted the following motion –  

 
‘The impact of the government’s decision to stop the benefit uplift of £20 
per week in October will severely impact on our area, Maryport and 
Workington has some of the poorest wards in Allerdale and they will be 
hugely impacted. This will cost our poorest families a minimum of £1,040 
a year - this includes not just those on out of work benefits but for our 
poorest paid including those on working tax credits. 
 
People are ensuring every penny counts and our poorest families are 
being hit with this cruel and callous cut. Many families have lost their jobs 
due to Covid and forced to take poorer paid jobs through no fault of their 
own. We are seeing the use of foodbanks increasing due to the rocketing 
supermarket and energy prices. The £20 a week may not sound a lot to 
many, but others are set to face the choice of heating their homes or 
having food on the table. 
 
This Council therefore calls on the Chief Executive Officer to write to Mark 
Jenkinson MP and Trudy Harrison MP voicing this Councils concerns at 
the removal of the benefit uplift and the impending impact on our most 
vulnerable Allerdale residents and requesting them to write to the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer, Rishi Sunak expressing our concerns’. 
 
 

4. Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours submitted the following motion –  
 
‘This council supports in principle the Keswick community in their quest to 
see a new leisure centre, complete with modern gym facility and 
swimming pool. 
  
This council acknowledges the sense of ill feeling within the community 



towards Allerdale Borough Council, who have closed the pool with no 
clear plan for its replacement. Subject to the appropriate decision-making 
process we also recognise our responsibility in delivering a plan for the 
new facility as quickly as possible and believe it is possible to enter Local 
Government Reorganisation with a shovel ready plan in a place for the 
new unitary authority to deliver’. 

  

7. Councillor Speeches   
 

 To hear speeches (not exceeding 5 minutes each), for up to a specified period of 
15 minutes, from individual members on a local issue in the Member’s Ward, of 
which 24 hours’ notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

  

8. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  (Pages 
21 - 22) 

 

9. Portfolio Holder Reports  (Pages 23 - 40) 
 

10. Executive Minutes  (Pages 41 - 44) 
 

 To note the contents of the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 23 
June 2021. 

  

11. Reference from Audit Committee 13/09/21 - Treasury Management Annual 
Review 2020/21  (Pages 45 - 82) 

 

12. Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022  (Pages 83 - 100) 
 

13. Local Government Reorganisation  (Pages 101 - 104) 
 

14. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 105 - 118) 
 

 

 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Wednesday 8 December 2021, 7.00 pm 

Hundith Hill Hotel, Cockermouth 
 
 



At a meeting of the Council held in Greenhill Hotel, Wigton on Wednesday 28 July 2021 
at 7.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Chair) Councillor Allan Daniels (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Mary Bainbridge 
Councillor Carmel Bell Councillor Herbert Briggs 
Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours Councillor John Cook 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Peter Gaston Councillor Hilary Harrington 
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Mike Johnson 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Peter Kendall 
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride Councillor Sally Lansbury 
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Peter Little 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Louise Maguire 
Councillor Owen Martin Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Joe Sandwith 
Councillor Paul Scott Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Colin Sharpe Councillor Alan Smith 
Councillor Kevin Thurlow Councillor Alan Tyson 
Councillor Will Wilkinson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Nicky Cockburn, Councillor John Crouch, Councillor Patrick Gorrill, Councillor Iain 
Greaney, Councillor Alan Hedworth, Councillor Vaughan Hodgson, Councillor Daniel 
Horsley, Councillor Alan Kennon, Councillor Janet King, Councillor Anthony Markley, 
Councillor Blain Sansom, Councillor Stephen Stoddart and Councillor Lynda Williams 
 
Staff Present 
 
B Carlin, A Gilbert, J Irving, K Magnay, C Nicholson, J Rae, G Roach, A Seekings and 
L Tomlinson 
 
118. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 May 2021 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

119. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

120. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
There were no items on the agenda for which the press and public should be 
excluded. 
 

121. Questions and Petitions  
 
None received. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



122. Notices of Motion  
 

1. Councillor Adrian Kirkbride submitted the following motion –  
 
‘This Council understands the anxiety and stress caused to vulnerable people, 
family pets and wildlife by the random use of fireworks in the days before and 
after November 5th each year, or outside of properly organised firework events. 
It therefore resolves to -  
 

1. Continue to actively support public awareness campaigns from all 
relevant agencies around the impact of fireworks on vulnerable 
people and animal welfare and the dangers of improper use, including 
the precautions that can be taken to mitigate risks  

2. Support the RSPCA public awareness campaign regarding fireworks 
and firework displays  

3. Request all public firework displays on Allerdale owned land to be 
advertised in advance of the event, allowing residents to take 
precautions for their vulnerable people and animals  

4. Write to the UK Government urging them to introduce legislation to 
limit the maximum noise level of fireworks to 90dB for those sold to 
the public for private displays, and to nationally promote the dangers 
and legalities around sale and misuse of fireworks’.  

 
On moving his motion Councillor Kirkbride said ‘although many enjoy seeing 
fireworks they can have the opposite effect on vulnerable residents such as 
veterans with mental health conditions, the elderly and those living alone, 
especially when they are being used away from organised firework displays. 
This Council hopefully understands the anxiety stress and worry caused to 
those mentioned and in addition the effects on family pets and wildlife and will 
support the motion’. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor P Little. 
 
Councillor M Johnson was in support of the motion in principle and said, the 
Council would have to clarify what advertising fireworks displays on its land 
meant in practice but he was sure an appropriate approach could be found.   
 
Councillor T Annison was in strong support of the motion, as a previous Air 
Force Sergeant who suffered personally from PTSD and could confirm the 
negative effects fireworks could have. 
 
A vote was taken, the motion was unanimously agreed. 
The motion was carried. 
 
 

2. Councillor Janet Farebrother submitted the following motion –  
 
'This Council endorses the position expressed in the letter dated 7 July 2021 
from Steve Reed MP (shadow Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government) that planning works best when developers and the local 
community work together to shape local areas and deliver necessary new 

Page 6



homes; and therefore calls on the Government to protect the right of 
communities to object to individual planning applications’. 
 
On moving her motion Councillor Farebrother said ‘since the White Paper on 
Planning Reform was published in August 2020 there has been an outcry from 
all sectors of local government on its proposals for a centralised planning 
system, proposing that decisions would no longer be made with reference to 
Local Plans and the system will undoubtedly favour large developers in order to 
meet government targets for house building’.  
Councillor Farebrother then read out the letter all planning authorities received 
from Steve Reed MP. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor P Kendall. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald commented that the Council had responded to the 
White Paper consultation last year stating that the public should continue to be 
allowed to object to individual planning applications and that Councillor 
Farebrother’ s motion was entirely consistent with the Council’s position. 
Councillor Fitzgerald said she was in support of the single issue expressed in 
the letter however, she did not believe that it was always the case that 
developers worked together with the local community or the local planning 
authority to shape local areas and develop new homes therefore some aspects 
of the Planning Bill were looking to improve the current system. 
 
Councillor Fitzgerald therefore moved an amendment as follows; 
‘Whilst recognising some strengths in the Planning Bill, this Council supports 
the position expressed in the letter dated 7 July 2021 from the Shadow 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, following cross 
party discussion, on the single issue that the Government should protect the 
right of communities to object to individual planning applications'. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor A Pitcher. 
 
A vote was taken on the amendment becoming the substantive motion, 13 in 
favour, 21 against and 1 abstention. The motion was lost. 
 
The debate was opened on the substantive motion. 
Councillor A Semple stood in support of the motion.  
 
A vote was taken, 23 in favour, 0 against and 12 abstentions.  
The motion was carried. 
 
 

3. Councillor Sally Lansbury submitted the following motion –  
 
‘In support of the work of the Climate Change Group Council asks officers to 
explore processes to prohibit the use of disposable BBQs on all Council 
recreational land and wildlife sites and for licensed festivals and events on 
Council owned land. 
  

Page 7



Council will also write to the local MPs, T Harrison, M Jenkinson and Dr N 
Hudson, to ask them to support this action and lobby Government for changes 
to legislation to prohibit the sale of these items’. 
 
In moving her motion Councillor Lansbury explained that her original intended 
motion was to call for an outright ban on disposable BBQs however officers had 
advised that due process was to be undertaken in the first instance. 
Councillor Lansbury continued, the Executive had adopted the Climate Change 
Action Plan which included discouraging wasteful lifestyles which was one of 
the reasons linked to the motion.  
She said ‘land owners do have the right to prohibit open fires on their land and 
bans have recently been introduced in Dorset, the Lake District National Park 
and Derbyshire Dales and some local shops have stopped selling disposable 
BBQs. We believe these items should be phased out for the following three 
reasons; fire risk, they pose multiple environmental hazards, their carbon heavy 
production costs and then the ethical purchasing. Almost all of the charcoal 
purchased for these products is imported from countries with no controls on 
sustainability or the work ethical processes’. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor E Lynch. 
 
Councillor M Johnson said he had some difficulties over this motion however 
was happy that Council determined an appropriate approach going forward. He 
said he had concerns on how the Council would go about enforcing any agreed 
actions, also that people may end up using alternatives that may have 
unintended consequences for the area. 
Councillor Johnson felt that it required further thought and perhaps national 
debate and changes to legislation should that be required. 
 
Councillor E Lynch was very much in support of the motion and said that it was 
something that the Council collectively, and as individuals of the Borough, could 
do as a small part of the global climate change. 
 
Councillor P Scott commented that of all the products sold, the vast majority of 
them were used responsibly by people out enjoying their family time and said 
that from a Council point of view, he would like to see more marketing on their 
safe use and promoting the rules. 
 
Councillor O Martin said that if you were looking at a ban of disposable BBQs 
then you should also be looking at a ban on all non-commercial BBQs apart 
from ones supplied for events. He felt it should be a blanket ban on people 
starting all fires on Allerdale owned land and parks. 
 
In her right of reply Councillor Lansbury felt there had been a reasonable 
debate on her motion and was delighted that Councillors felt there should be 
higher action taken and that it was a step in the right direction.  
 
A vote was taken, 31 in favour, 3 against and 1 abstention.  
The motion was carried. 
 
 
 

Page 8



4. Councillor Peter Little submitted the following motion –  
 
‘Many of us will have seen recent news reports of people living in squalid 
housing as Matt Hancock condemns 'horrific' conditions exposed by ITV. 
Examples include damp, mouldy conditions; people having to repeatedly report 
faults and a lack of empathy shown by landlords. The Housing Act 2004 means 
that by law landlords must make sure that a person's home is 'fit for human 
habitation' which means that it is safe, healthy and free from things that can 
cause a person serious harm. The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 
2018 is a power for tenants to hold their landlord, including registered providers, 
to account without having to rely on their local authority to do so. 
  
Bad housing costs the NHS an estimated £1.4 million each year and there is a 
clear link between poor housing conditions and health problems including 
respiratory issues, physical pain and mental health. Many residents in my Ward 
often contact me to express concerns they have with housing conditions and 
feel that they are hitting a brick wall when reporting problems. In some cases, 
many have reported the same problem on numerous occasions and feel they 
are being ignored. I have seen some of the conditions residents are living in and 
to put it mildly, they are appalling. 
  
As the local authority, Allerdale Borough Council has a responsibility to ensure 
residents live in housing that is sanitary and fit for purpose. Before the 
Pandemic, 18% of homes in England were classed as 'non-decent' which 
means: 
- It does not meet the basic legal health and safety standards for housing 
- It is not in a reasonable state of repair 
- It does not have reasonably modern facilities and services 
- It has insulation or heating that is not effective 
  
As we enter the Covid recovery phase, millions will still be left in poor quality, 
unsafe and dangerous homes. There is no question that the housing crisis in 
Britain is indisputable. Simply put, there are not enough alternative, affordable 
homes to rent for the majority of people living in poor quality housing. The 
Government recently announced its bill on planning reform so that they can 
build more high quality housing that people want to live in but that is not 
enough. That action needs to be implemented at the earliest opportunity. 
  
It is therefore my recommendation that members of this Council supports this 
motion in that we, Allerdale Borough Council, work more closely with both social 
and private housing landlords. We will hold to account the Government and 
landlords where significant failures in social housing conditions are identified 
and tenants do not receive a resolution’. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor P Gaston. 
 
Councillor M Johnson said the Council worked with private landlords and with 
registered providers to ensure that decent homes were maintained across the 
borough. He said ‘even though The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 
2018 is the power for residents to hold their landlords to account it is important 
for the Council to recognise that people sometimes do need our help and 
support. The Council is not aware of any issues from residents but if they have 

Page 9



reported directly to the landlords or Associations then they need to contact the 
team here at Allerdale direct’. 
Councillor Johnson said ‘for clarity Allerdale Council has a statutory duty to 
ensure houses are free from category 1 hazards and also supports residents in 
many other ways to live in their homes’. 
 
Councillor M Campbell-Savours moved an amendment to the motion on the 
basis of ‘toughening up’ what the Council were asking for. The amendment read 
as follows;  
 
‘That we, Allerdale Borough Council, instruct the Overview & Scrutiny and Audit 
Committees to look at... 
 

1. The effectiveness of the council's current approach when engaging with 
tenants, landlords and social landlords, 

2. Ensuring that earlier recommendations from the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee have been implemented, 

3. Lessons learnt from the recent complaint to the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman, who found the Council to be at fault when 
handling a resident's complaint regarding a private landlord, 

4. How the Council can improve public awareness of its powers under the 
2004 Housing Act and promote how Allerdale Borough Council can 
assist local residents in need of support when dealing with negligent 
landlord’. 

 
This was seconded by Councillor S Lansbury. 
 
Councillor C Bell said that a lot of the social landlords and housing associations 
were very good and she felt that some of the proposed actions from the 
amendment would undermine the policies and procedures already in place and 
the good work and the relationships between the Council and the housing 
associations. 
 
Councillor S Lansbury commented that the proposed amendment could also 
protect the good landlords and said if you could highlight best practise if it was 
scrutinised by the Council then more likely, it would be found that best practice 
came to the fore. 
 
Councillor J Farebrother said that it was really important the Council looked at 
its policies and made sure they were up to scratch, and if there were things 
falling short then it was the responsibility of Scrutiny to bring that to attention. 
The Council must make sure that policies and procedures were helping those 
most vulnerable. 
 
Councillor P Kendall was in support of the amendment and said there was a lot 
the Scrutiny Committee could do in looking at supporting landlords. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald was in support of the amendment and felt it was 
certainly something that Scrutiny could look at.  
 
 

Page 10



A vote was taken on the amendment becoming the substantive motion, the 
motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
A vote was taken, the motion was unanimously agreed. 
The motion was carried. 
 
 
As the maximum time for the item had been reached the fifth motion submitted 
by Councillor A Smith was deferred to the next meeting of Council. 
 

123. Councillor Speeches  
 
None received. 
 

124. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  
 
The Mayor made reference to his engagements since the previous meeting. 
 
Councillor Mike Johnson, Leader of the Council made reference to the recent 
announcement from Government on the decision to proceed with plans for local 
government reorganisation (LGR) in Cumbria. The model chosen by 
Government was the proposal jointly submitted by Allerdale and Copeland for 
an east/west unitary split. 
 

125. Portfolio Holder updates  
 
The Leader of the Council presented the Portfolio Holders update report. 
 
Questions were asked around the Levelling Up Fund, the disposal of assets, 
progress on the Sports Village, the Stronger Together Moorclose Group, a 
Geological Disposal Facility within Allerdale, the Corporate Restructure, ground 
maintenance and the Allerdale Local Focus Hub. 
 
With regards to the riverbank works at Millfield, Workington Councillor P Scott 
enquired about the dub wall on the opposite side, and asked when repairs were 
to be carried out there. 
 
Regarding the Allerdale House refurbishment works, Councillor Scott asked for 
a breakdown of costs, including for the further two phases. 
Councillor M Johnson agreed to find out and provide the information. 
 
With regards to the repair of broken blue bin lids, Councillor G Kemp requested 
details on the number of all repaired bins and the associated costs of the 
repairs. 
Councillor J Lister agreed to find out and provide the information. 
 
With regards to the Bulky Waste Collection Service, Councillor P Scott asked 
how many total collection slots were available across the borough. 
Councillor J Lister agreed to find out and provide the information. 
 
Councillor J Cook requested to know from Tivoli when a permanent street 
cleaner was to be appointed for Silloth. 

Page 11

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flnks.gd%2Fl%2FeyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDEsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMTA3MjMuNDM1OTQ1MzEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3d3dy5hbGxlcmRhbGUuZ292LnVrL2VuL25ld3MtYW5kLWJsb2cvbGVhZGVyLXdlbGNvbWVzLWxvY2FsLWdvdmVybm1lbnQtcmVvcmdhbmlzYXRpb24tYW5ub3VuY2VtZW50LyJ9.jMZ5lSJYWVN-tyUB9VvaoOQwRmMIaNqy5rQzHIcRmfk%2Fs%2F1186098347%2Fbr%2F109800529259-l&data=04%7C01%7Cgayle.roach%40allerdale.gov.uk%7C9588a4e9c64348d3ab0208d94dc934f6%7Ca10953b672334b77b858e13f522d29c8%7C0%7C0%7C637626348838591481%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=3e8SQ%2FvHJuBwN509xy7UXqkZG8q5TIry53%2BuJp2%2BoRA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flnks.gd%2Fl%2FeyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDEsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMTA3MjMuNDM1OTQ1MzEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3d3dy5hbGxlcmRhbGUuZ292LnVrL2VuL25ld3MtYW5kLWJsb2cvbGVhZGVyLXdlbGNvbWVzLWxvY2FsLWdvdmVybm1lbnQtcmVvcmdhbmlzYXRpb24tYW5ub3VuY2VtZW50LyJ9.jMZ5lSJYWVN-tyUB9VvaoOQwRmMIaNqy5rQzHIcRmfk%2Fs%2F1186098347%2Fbr%2F109800529259-l&data=04%7C01%7Cgayle.roach%40allerdale.gov.uk%7C9588a4e9c64348d3ab0208d94dc934f6%7Ca10953b672334b77b858e13f522d29c8%7C0%7C0%7C637626348838591481%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=3e8SQ%2FvHJuBwN509xy7UXqkZG8q5TIry53%2BuJp2%2BoRA%3D&reserved=0


Councillor J Lister agreed to find out more information. 
 
Under paragraph 9.2 ‘Covid-19 financial monitoring’, Councillor C McCarron-
Holmes moved a motion without notice, under procedural rule 4.19.4 ‘to refer 
something to an appropriate body or individual’. 
 
Councillor McCarron-Holmes said; 
‘In relation to the latest new case figures for the variant in Cumbria and in 
particular Allerdale that I have recently read, they are most concerning. The 
Borough has seen increases again which are well above the national average, 
87% of all cases are in the under 50 age group. We are a long way from 
normality and I feel that the time is due when we need to seek help. 
In the North East of England in particular Middlesbrough, Darlington, Durham, 
Gateshead, Hartlepool, Redcar, Cleveland and Sunderland they are to receive 
a five week package of government support for extra testing and measures to 
boost the vaccine rate, this shows recognition of need. I am therefore moving a 
motion without notice that the Executive consider asking Government for a 
similar package to assist our Borough at this time’. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor A Smith. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald said it was her understanding that the additional funding 
was devolved down from the higher tier authority so it would be Cumbria County 
Council who would apply for the additional funding, particularly the Director of 
Public Health.  
Councillor Fitzgerald agreed with the sentiment of the motion and to open the 
lines of discussion. 
 
Councillor C Sharpe said ‘that since the latest Government milestone there had 
been concerns around increasing Covid cases, there had been a push within 
the County to increase the vaccine uptake and bearing in mind the time lag 
around statistics the County was now seeing a downward trend in cases, 
something in the region of 40%’. 
The Director of Health chaired the county wide health protection group and 
anything cascaded was monitored by Allerdale’s relevant officers and by the 
Executive. 
 
A vote was taken, 34 in favour, 0 against and 1 abstention. The motion was 
carried. 
 

126. Executive Minutes  
 
The minutes of the Executive meetings held on 13 January, 24 February, 24 
March, 21 April and 12 May 2021 were noted. 
 

127. Review of Council Governance Arrangements and Structure  
 
The Chief Officer Place and Governance submitted a report which sought to 
update members on the review of the Councils governance arrangements and 
structure and the subsequent recommendations from the Constitution Working 
Group and the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Page 12



Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the report and the recommendations. This was 
seconded by Councillor M Johnson. 
 
A vote was taken, 33 in favour, 0 against and 2 abstentions. The motion was 
carried. 
 
Resolved 
 
That –  
 

1. The actions set out in paragraph 5 of the report be agreed, 
2. The actions be monitored by the Constitution Working Group. 
 

128. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2020-21  
 
Councillor M Heaslip, Co-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee moved 
the annual report for 2020-21. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor C McCarron-Holmes. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the report be Agreed. 
 

129. Governance Updates  
 
The Chief Officer Place and Governance submitted a report which sought to 
update members on all urgent delegated decisions taken since the last report to 
Council on 3 March 2021, and for members to nominate and appoint to the 
Workington Harbour Management Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the report; this was seconded by Councillor M 
Johnson who nominated Councillor Ron Munby to sit on the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for the Allerdale Conservative group. 
The motion was agreed. 
 
The Mayor asked for nominations for the 3 seats on the Workington Harbour 
Management Committee outside body for the next twelve months. 
 
Councillor A Smith nominated Councillor M Heaslip for the first seat; this was 
seconded by Councillor M Campbell-Savours. 
 
A Vote was taken, 26 in favour, 0 against and 9 abstentions. The motion was 
carried. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald nominated Councillor C Sharpe for the second seat; this 
was seconded by Councillor T Annison. 
 
A Vote was taken, 26 in favour, 0 against and 9 abstentions. The motion was 
carried. 
 

Page 13



Councillor M Fitzgerald nominated Councillor M Johnson for the third seat; this 
was seconded by Councillor O Martin. 
 
A Vote was taken, 26 in favour, 0 against and 9 abstentions. The motion was 
carried. 
 
 
Resolved 
 
That –  
 

1. The summary of all CEO Urgent Action decisions and Special Urgency 
Executive decisions detailed in section 4.0 of the report be noted 

2. Councillors Michael Heaslip, Colin Sharpe and Mike Johnson be 
appointed to the Workington Harbour Management Committee outside 
body for the next twelve months 

3. Councillor Ron Munby be appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to replace Councillor Stephen Stoddart. 

 
The meeting closed at 8.46 pm 
 

Page 14



The following questions were asked at Council where it was agreed a response 
would be provided after the meeting; 
 
Responses on behalf of the Executive Committee  
  

1. With regards to the riverbank works at Millfield, Workington Councillor P 
Scott enquired about the dub wall on the opposite side, and asked when 
repairs were to be carried out there 
 
Bingham Yates were appointed to carry out a design for remedial works but 

due to the current climate are struggling to get an intrusive ground survey 

done of the river bed by a groundworks engineer. Allerdale’s 

Engineer/Surveyor is now starting to explore other options, such as taking 

down the damaged wall from above. The dub wall appears to still be in good 

order behind it. 

  
2. Regarding the Allerdale House refurbishment works, Councillor Scott 

asked for a breakdown of costs, including for the further two phases 
 
In respect of Cllr. Scott’s  question at Council regarding the refurbishment 

costs of parts of Allerdale House, please see draft response below. 

Decoration to parts of first and second floor £3,650 

Carpeting to parts of first and second floor £16,850 

Electrical works including replacing light fittings £8,900 

Replacing ceiling tiles part of first and second floor £3,750 

Replacement blinds part of first and second floor £1,950 

General repairs to parts of first and second floor £3,150 

 

All of the above work was carried out from the existing repairs budget and 

would have been work we intended to carry out over the next couple of years.  

However, we took the opportunity of working in an almost empty building due 

to the pandemic, which allowed us to bring forward the works. 

The areas that are being refurbished will accommodate staff as they start to 

return to the office. 

  
3. With regards to the repair of broken blue bin lids, Councillor G Kemp 

requested details on the number of all repaired bins and the associated 
costs of the repairs 
 
The current situation is that there is an ongoing legal dispute with MGB. The 

failed blue lids are being replaced free of charge under the warranty and the 

Page 11

Minute Item 125

Page 15



legal case is being prepared. MGB have acknowledged that the issue is as a 

result of the composition of materials and we are in legal negotiations 

regarding a solution. 

Allerdale Waste Services took over the running of the bin delivery operation 

on behalf of the council under a fixed price contract and their latest bin 

delivery dashboard is attached in the email. To date, all the broken lids have 

been replaced by the company under the terms of the warranty. This has 

been done in two ways: out on site by following bin rounds; at Solway House 

depot. 

  
4.     With regards to the Bulky Waste Collection Service, Councillor P Scott 

asked how many total collection slots were available across the 
borough 

 
In addition to amending the days on which collections from the borough’s 

towns are made to make the service more efficient there will be an additional 

20 slots per week making 66 in total. These slot numbers will be reviewed 

periodically to ensure maximum efficiency. 

  
5.     Councillor J Cook requested to know from Tivoli when a permanent 

street cleaner was to be appointed for Silloth 
 

Meeting arranged with Cllr Cook along with Stewart Henderson from Tivoli at 

7.30am in Silloth on the 5th August to discuss the street cleansing needs of 

Silloth and the surrounding areas. 

 
 

Page 12Page 16



June 2021 

 

Total bins requested Unique service requests Bins delivered / repaired Jobs closed in 10 days or less

2,298          1,814           2,095          1,802          

% closed in 10 days or less

86.01%

Bin delivery dashboard

1024

379 439 304
152

Blue lidded paper 240
litre

Household waste bin
120 litre

Garden waste bin Glass cans and plastic
120 litre

Household waste bin
240 litre

Requested bins by type

170

146

175

90

Bins requested (by start of week)

Week timeline

MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN

20222021

Page 13Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14Page 18



Email response received on 17/08/21: 
 
Thanks for making me aware of this motion. Councillor Fitzgerald is correct that any action of this 
sort gets channelled through the County Council, so I hope it’s appropriate for me to respond. 
 
First, can I formally express my thanks to Allerdale Borough Council and its officers for the work that 
you and your teams have undertaken throughout the last 18 months. Your work particularly on 
contact tracing and outbreak control has been exceptional, and everything you’ve been doing to 
support the Borough to be Covid-secure, including enhanced regulatory and enforcement activity 
and supporting people to self-isolate through running the support grant schemes, has been a crucial 
part of the pandemic response. It has been a pleasure working with you and your officers 
throughout – despite the circumstances – and I am extremely grateful for the part that your teams 
have played.  
 
Of course as the Council recognised through supporting this motion, the pandemic is far from over. 
As things stand, case rates in Allerdale are reasonably stable, though at a much higher rate than 
previous stable levels – around 260/100k/week. This is around the Cumbria average and below the 
England figure, which is currently around the 300/100k/week mark. Fortunately, thanks to the 
vaccination programme these relatively high rates are not currently translating into high levels of 
hospitalisation or death.  
 
I meet every week with colleagues from the Regional Contain Team and the Joint Biosecurity Centre 
to discuss the position in Cumbria and whether any additional support from the national system is 
needed. The result of these discussions is then fed into the weekly national planning round, resulting 
in Ministerial decisions on what support to provide to which areas. We have requested and received 
such support in the past, notably when we carried out a 4-week programme of surge testing aimed 
at all 12-30 year olds in the County, and when we requested specific national communications to be 
done regarding safe and appropriate travel to the Lake District. At this point, however, with case 
rates stable and below the England average, there is very little likelihood of additional national 
support being made available to us, and certainly not in the form of additional funding.  
 
As you’re aware, we have already received considerable resources through the Contain Outbreak 
Management Fund, much of which has been disbursed to District Councils to enable you to carry out 
your vital contact tracing and enforcement role. However we have retained some of this resource 
unallocated to enable us to respond to any additional unforeseen pressures. At the Health 
Protection Oversight Group this week I will be initiating a piece of work to identify where there is 
any further demand that might need additional resource. As such if there are any such resource 
requirements identified for Allerdale these can be picked up as part of this process. 
 
Thank you again for all your input so far, and in anticipation of this continuing over the autumn and 
winter! 
 
All the best, 
 
Colin 
 
 
Colin Cox 
Director of Public Health 
Cumbria County Council 
 

Page 15Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16Page 20



The Mayor, Councillor Malcolm Grainger 
Engagements since the last Council meeting on  

28 July 2021 
 
 

 
30 July 2021 

 
Official Opening of the Allerdale BC 
Funded Development – Helena 
Thompson Museum, Workington 
 

 
12 August 2021 

 
National Children’s Hospice Week – 
Eden Valley Hospice 
 

 
13 August 2021 
 

 
Wigtons Forgotten War, The Burma 
Campaign –  Market Hall, Wigton 
 

 
14 August 2021 
 

 
Cruise of Derwent Water with the Mayor 
of Workington 
 

 
28 August 2021 
 

 
Great Fair Proclamation & Civic 
Breakfast – Tithe Barn, Carlisle 
 

 
05 September 2021 
 

 
Mayor of Ulverston’s Civic Sunday 

 
12 September 2021 
 

 
Brunch – Bolton Low Houses Village 
Hall 
 

 
16 September 2021 
 

 
Mayor of Kendal’s Mayor Making 
Ceremony 
 

 
19 September 2021 
 

 
Civic Service – All Saints Church, 
Boltongate 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



The Deputy Mayor, Councillor Allan Daniels 
Engagements since the last Council meeting on  

28 July 2021 
 

 
18 August 2021 
 

 
Queens Voluntary Service Award, 
React Engineering – Cleator Moor 
 

 
12 September 2021 
 

 
Brunch – Bolton Low Houses Village 
Hall 
 

 
16 September 2021 
 

 
Fortieth Annual Prize Giving – Keswick 
School 

 
19 September 2021 
 

 
Mayor of Allerdale’s Civic Service, All 
Saints Church, Boltongate 
 

 

Page 22



 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 22 September 2021 

 

Portfolio Holder updates
 

Portfolio holder Councillor Mike Johnson – Leader 

Report from Senior Management Team 

Wards affected   As indicated in the main body of the report 

Is this a key decision  No 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To update Council on the activities and decisions of Portfolio Holders since the last 
meeting. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Members note the content of the report. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 This is a regular report that comes to each meeting of Council. The purpose of the 
report is to provide full Council with an update and overview of the activities of 
individual portfolio holders.  

3.2 The activities of the Portfolio Holders are given in the following sections. 

4.0  Leader of the Council: Economic Growth, Community Development and 
Place-making Portfolio: Cllr Mike Johnson  

Shop Local campaign 

4.1 Our Shop Local video will be at the centre of a communications campaign to run 
through the remainder of 2021/22. The campaign, funded by the Government’s 
Welcome Back Fund will encourage residents and visitors to support local business 
and jobs by shopping local.  

Maryport Taste of the Sea Festival 

4.2 The first Maryport Festival of the Sea took place on 14/15 August 2021 and 
attracted large number of residents and visitors. An independent evaluation of the 
economic impact of the Festival has been commissioned and results will be 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



 

reported later. The Festival was a mix of food traders, cookery demonstrations, 
entertainment for children and adults, special events put on by Senhouse Roman 
Museum, the Lake District Coast Aquarium, Maryport Maritime Museum and The 
Settlement supported by our funding. There was a sold-out comedy night with 
professional performers at The Wave and a number of pubs featured live music, 
which we again supported with funding. The Festival was made possible by our own 
growth funding and financial support from Maryport Town Council, Cumbria County 
Council, Grants Oak Smoked, Vicci and Taste of the Lakes. Taste Cumbria 
Cockermouth returns 25/26 September and 11/12 December 2021. 

Solway Coast Cycling Festival 

4.3 The first Solway Coast Cycling Festival took place on Silloth Green on 11 
September 2021 and was funded by our growth funding with support from Silloth 
Town Council. The celebration of all things cycling offered residents and visitors the 
chance to explore the Solway Coast by bike on a series of guided rides, brush up 
their cycling skills, watch grass-track cycle racing and have their own bikes check 
and fixed. The Festival promoted cycling as part of an active and environmentally 
friendly lifestyle and showcased the Solway Coast as a great cycling tourism 
destination. 

Business forums and business support services 

4.4 Business forums led by the private sector have now been established in 
Workington, Wigton and the Solway Coast. The forums will become key partners for 
consultation on our business, regeneration and events focused programmes. 
Subscriptions to our weekly business eNewsletter continue to grow and now stand 
at 2,396. We continue to encourage businesses to sign up to receive these on a 
weekly basis.   

Outdoor markets  

4.5 Keswick and Workington outdoor markets welcomed back more traders from 21 
July 2021 in the light of the ending of Covid regulations following a risk assessment 
that showed it was safe to do so. Wigton and Silloth outdoor markets are also 
trading normally. Stand income levels are back to pre-pandemic levels. 

Procurement 

4.6 The Procurement team supported the Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster 
(BECBC) e-Group with a warmly received presentation with local suppliers in June. 
Going forward, the Council will continue to ensure more local based SME’s are 
aware, bid for and are successful in delivering Council contracts. The event with 
BECBC covered a number of important themes to inform suppliers on: 

 Vision for Allerdale – Impact of Council contracts   
 Understanding of what procurement is 
 What things the Council buys 
 Guidance on key activities - registering and using the Chest  
 Confidence to be able to apply for Council contracts  

The team have now been approached by Cumbria Chambers of Commerce to 
undertake a supply chain event (following a similar format to that of the film and 

Page 24



 

Q&A session that has been published on our business website and distributed to 
local business networks) which will be delivered in September. 

Maryport Future High Street (FHS) Programme  

4.7 A Memorandum of Understanding is now in place between the Council and the 
Government Future High Streets Department and funding for year one of the 
programme has been received. 

Mott MacDonald consultants are being appointed as strategic partners to coordinate 
key elements of the planning and design work required prior to the construction 
phase being implemented. This will specifically relate to Empire Yard (market 
initiative), The Wave (pool and e-bike hub) and Christchurch (museum conversion).  

British Energy Coast (BEC) have continued to work in partnership with the Council 
to progress plans for the former Carlton Cinema. Planning is progressing for the 
party wall survey work to commence for the adjoining empty property at 28 
Senhouse Street. The aim is for this building to be demolished as part of the overall 
Carlton scheme.  

Maryport Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) 

4.8 Capital Programme:  RIBA Stage 4 plans are being finalised for Maryport Town Hall 
and for 1 Senhouse Street (current Maritime Museum).  Planning application has 
been submitted for the Town Hall and a project team has been set up to manage 
the move and interim storage of the Maritime Museum artefacts. Architects are 
working up sketch schemes for nine prospective shopfront improvement grant 
schemes. Heron Foods and 69 Crosby Street both have planning permission for 
proposed works and are expected to start this year.  

Cultural Programme:  A new Maryport Cultural Consortium has been established 
and is working well.  Research into Maryport’s cultural sector has led to a report 
which shows that the sector is under-developed and has received less public 
funding than many other local towns, but has confirmed it has considerable 
potential. These findings have led to Historic England offering to fund a part time 
cultural co-ordinator post for at least 12 months to help drive the Cultural 
Consortium, build capacity and co-ordinate a cultural programme bid to fund a 
calendar of heritage inspired events in Maryport from 2022-2024.  Filming for the 
Oral History Recording Project of memories of Maryport’s High Street in the 1930s 
and 40s is complete and is being edited.  It is hoped that previously unseen film 
footage from the 1930s will be incorporated.  

Public Realm Improvements - Maryport 

4.9 Both the FHS and HAZ Programmes include improvement to elements of public 
realm areas such as footpaths, lighting, landscaping and parking surface 
enhancements. For much of these planned improvements partners at Cumbria 
County Council will lead this part of the programme and will work closely with BEC, 
Allerdale BC and the Delivery Groups to ensure planned outputs are achieved. 

Community Engagement - Maryport 

4.10 Community engagement needs to be on-going throughout the Maryport 
Regeneration Programme and features as a key requirement of both the FHS and 
HAZ Programmes. The governance structure will continue to oversee the work 

Page 25



 

through the Advisory Group, the Engagement Group and the Delivery Group.  The 
next round of meetings is being organised for September and regular updates are 
planned through both the Council’s and others’ websites and publications, as well 
as a new newsletter, which is being designed to cover all Maryport Regeneration 
News.   

The team were present at the recent Festival of the Sea to support activities and 
highlight key elements of the regen programme. The Maryport community and 
visitors from outside of the area were all supportive of the plans and keen to hear 
more as the work progresses. 

The Maryport Business Group (MBG) 

4.11 This group was initially set up by Allerdale in 2019 is now going from strength to 
strength and is currently working to communicate with over 300 businesses in the 
area. MBG are keen to continue to work with the council to influence the 
development of events and interventions, which will benefit local businesses and 
increase footfall within the town. 

Workington Hall 

4.12 Tenders have been returned and evaluated for the next phase of the restoration 
works at Workington Hall. Subject to obtaining Scheduled Monument Consent, we 
hope to start the works mid to late September. The works are programmed to last 
for four months.  

5.0  Deputy Leader of the Council: Policy, Governance and People 
Resources Portfolio: Cllr Marion Fitzgerald  

 Nuclear issues 

5.1 The Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) Working Group have now completed twelve 
face to face public engagement events in towns and villages across Allerdale.  
There has also been a mail shot to households throughout Allerdale to inform 
residents of the reasons why there is a search for a GDF and how the process will 
work.  Allerdale Borough Council Members were invited to a further update from the 
Allerdale Working Group on Tuesday 27 July and also a presentation from NuLeaf, 
an LGA Special Interest Group, on Thursday 12 August. 

Members are encouraged to visit the Working Group’s website and to register for 
the monthly newsletter. The Working Group hopes to put forward a proposal in due 
course for the formation of a Community Partnership within Allerdale to take the 
process forward to the next stage. 

Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and Local Focus Hub 

5.2 A new action plan with measurable targets was approved by the Partnership on 7 
September.  The targets are aligned with the Safer Cumbria strategy and there will 
be a campaign to raise the profile of the CSP and to attract additional funding bids 
from the community before the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC) resources 
transfer to the Allerdale and Copeland Local Focus Hubs. 

I attended a Get Connected meeting at West Lakes on 6 August.  The Get 
Connected project has followed on from a CSP funded youth survey undertaken 

Page 26



 

early 2021 to help partners understand the risks of youth violence and knife crime in 
West Cumbria. 837 young people aged 11-16 years completed the survey.  Some 
of the findings were that 23% were worried about knife carrying in their area, and 
that 12% knew someone in their school who had carried a knife.  However, 86% 
reported that they felt safe in their community and 64% that they would be 
comfortable telling a police officer about their problems.   

Over the summer a series of free workshops have been facilitated by the 
Enthusiasm Charity for key partners working with young people to help shape a 
plan to address some of the issues highlighted in the survey. The session on 6 
August brought all the outcomes together.  The final report from Get Connected 
was shared with the CSP for adoption via their action plan. 

Housing grant funding 

5.3 A bid has recently been submitted for funding from the BEIS Sustainable Warmth 
Competition by Carlisle City Council as the lead authority of a consortium of all 
Cumbrian district councils. The Sustainable Warmth competition is Phase 3 of the 
Local Authority Delivery of Green Homes Grants (LAD3) for mains gas connected 
homes and Home Upgrade Grants (HUG) for off-mains gas homes. The City 
Council has applied for around £25 million of funding on behalf of the Cumbrian 
consortium to address fuel poverty and improve energy efficiency and carbon 
savings in at least 1,000 mainly private sector properties. We hope to find out if this 
bid has been successful by late autumn.  

Housing Options 

5.4 I am pleased to be able to report that the Housing Options team have successfully 
helped the majority of the clients housed temporarily in bed and breakfast 
accommodation across the area during the pandemic as part of the government 
“everyone in” initiative, into permanent accommodation.   

  Looking to the future the team have also worked closely with Home Group over 
recent months to develop a funding bid. A bid was submitted to MHCLG as part of 
the Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme (RSAP) for funding to provide 
supported accommodation for rough sleepers across Allerdale. If the bid is 
successful it will provide funding for 12 high quality "move on" homes for clients. 
Clients will be able to live in these homes for up to two years with the benefit of 
wrap around support to help them achieve their goals in independent living. The key 
objective is that our clients will be able to access social housing and assured 
tenancies using Home Groups proposed pathway. 

Helen Banton, Allerdale Housing Options Support Worker, has been appointed to a 
new role with the Copeland Housing and Social Inclusion team.  Fortunately, we are 
not losing her completely as in her new role she will be working across both 
Allerdale and Copeland. 

Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment 

5.5 The Council has now received a final draft of the Gypsy and Traveller Needs 
Assessment. Whilst the document is still being finalised we can be relatively 
confident that the stakeholder and site assessment information is unlikely to change 
in the final document. The assessment has raised a number of issues for the 
Council to consider, especially with regards to a permanent council operated site. 

Page 27



 

Officers have now been asked to engage with the gypsy and traveller community 
locally to discuss the apparent preferred approach of smaller private sites. These 
discussions will be ongoing over the coming weeks and progress will be reported to 
future council meetings. The full document will be available to members once the 
final version has been received by the Council. 

Climate Change Group 

5.6 We have now started delivery of carbon literacy training for officers and members, 
with the first sessions held in early September.    

Elections 

5.7 The annual household canvass continues to progress well with a good level of 
response to the first stage Canvass Communication B forms (the forms sent to 
properties where we suspect changes to elector details). Reminder forms are due to 
be posted during September and a telephone canvass will follow up non-
responders with a reduced door-to-door canvass during October.  

Plans are starting to be made for the elections to the new unitary shadow 
authorities in May 2022 and the county election officer group meets regularly to 
contribute to the Local Government Reorganisation election process.  

Work is due to start in September on the Maryport/Flimby community governance 
review (CGR), which was delayed because of the pandemic. The CGR working 
group will run a consultation process after which it will form its recommendations to 
Council. 

Democratic Services 

5.8 The team would like to take the opportunity to remind members to review their 
Register of Interest forms if they haven’t done so recently to capture any changes to 
circumstances. This will include any changes to address, property, employment and 
appointments to external bodies or groups - If you have been appointed to Outside 
bodies by the Council is this reflected in your register? 

6.0  Environmental Services Portfolio: Cllr Jim Lister  

 Environmental Enforcement  

6.1  Targeted intelligence and complaint led high profile patrolling continues across the 
borough in areas with high instances of dog fouling, littering and fly tipping. 
Education and engagement activities have taken place including using leafletting, 
stencilling and signage in our hot spot locations. A structured social media 
campaign is in place to promote both education and enforcement. 

We are also supporting a number of community volunteers with equipment and 
advice to ensure the amazing work being delivered by residents of Allerdale can 
continue, together we can drive positive behaviours. The team attended Netherton 
Infants School with partners from the Fire Service and the Police to thank the 
children for their weekly litter picking efforts in one of our priority locations. 

The team have supported the multi-agency referral for fly tipping ‘Operation 
Respect’ and were leading on behalf of Allerdale Borough Council at the recent day 

Page 28



 

of action in Charles Close and Alexander Close, a fantastic event with over 30 
people from various agencies supporting. 

The team provide ongoing engagement and education to business customers in 
Allerdale in response to My Allerdale requests for service and are working with the 
Trade Waste team to explore new opportunities and tactics in addressing the issues 
of mismanagement of commercial waste. 

Waste and recycling  

6.2 Along with the rest of the country Allerdale Waste Services Limited (AWSL) suffered 
from the ‘pingdemic’ with many crew members having to self-isolate in accordance 
with the regulations at the time. Equally the national driver shortage has had a 
similar consequence with a shortage of agency drivers being available to cover 
holidays and sickness. The result was that green waste collections had to be 
reviewed and cancelled where it wasn’t possible to crew a vehicle. Defra guidance 
is that green waste, which isn’t a statutory service should have a lower priority than 
recycling or residual waste during periods of unexpected work pressure and as 
such AWSL have concentrated on those statutory services. 

With regard to the review of the AWSL round routes the Shareholder Group are 
meeting in late August to consider the implications of the savings and costs relating 
to the proposed routes, of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Cumbria and 
the likely outcomes of the Environment Bill currently passing through Parliament. 

Trade waste volumes have been increasing due to the lifting of restrictions and 
many businesses reopening in our area. The Waste Team have finished issuing the 
annual Duty of Care Waste Transfer Notes to all trade waste customers and will 
continue to chase up the return of the documents over the coming weeks. 

Following the LGR announcement AWSL have already had preliminary discussions 
with the waste team in Copeland and have a diarised meeting with the team at 
Carlisle City Council in early September. The Waste Team are playing a full part in 
the Cumbria Strategic Waste Partnership discussions both in terms of LGR and the 
consultations on the Environment Bill which will have major implications for the 
waste industry from 2023 onwards. 

Grounds maintenance and street cleaning 

6.3 Tivoli and AWSL contributed to the Home Housing event as part of the multi-agency 
Operation Respect in late July where the teams provided cleansing services and 
education. The next event will be held at Westfield Housing in September. 

Tivoli donated their surplus bedding plants to the event above and to Workington 
Town Council for their Britain in Bloom activities. Similarly they also donated two 
trailer loads of bark chippings to Silloth Town Council. 

Tivoli joined a ‘Walkabout’ in the Derwent Howe Industrial Estate area to see how 
the area could be enhanced to make the environment more attractive to inward 
investment. A list of actions was prepared, and a second ‘walkabout’ day has been 
organised for Aspatria in October. 

Funding has been set aside for Tivoli to commission a tree survey of all the trees on 
Allerdale owned land. The survey will assess their condition, provide a location 
plan, tree tagging, proposed future survey schedules will be prepared and it will 

Page 29



 

provide substantial public liability cover should an accident (fallen branch etc.) 
occur. All the required works highlighted will be covered within Tivoli’s contract. 

Public realm and open spaces projects 

6.4 Northside allotments and Siddick Pond: Demolition and site clearance contract has 
been completed with the landscaping contract underway. 

Central Way Underpass: The Underpass was re-opened on 29 July and the 
permanent lighting has been installed.  The installation of the artwork commenced 
on 7 September. 

Planting for Pollinators: Cumbria Wildlife Trust’s bid to the Green Recovery Fund 
has been approved. This project, in which we are a key partner, is a follow-up to 
“Get Cumbria Buzzing” (which is ongoing well into 2022) and will run for 18 months. 
Twelve ABC sites form are included in the project, such as Camerton Brickworks 
and Mote Hill, Maryport. 

CCC Environment Fund: A total of £32.5k has been secured to support 
environmental improvements and environmental volunteering/education at Mote Hill 
and replacement tree planting on Fleming Square.  

BMX track for Workington: Following the removal of the cycle tracks in Hall Park 
earlier in the year and with the success of the Olympics, we are working with 
Cumbria County Council and Workington Town Council to come up with a list of 
potential site options for a feasibility study. We are discussing the possibility of 
funding with CCC. 

Climate Change Action Plan and Unregistered Land: The Climate Change Action 
Plan Group is keen to look at First Registration of unregistered land where that land 
can contribute to delivering our strategic objectives (e.g. with tree planting or other 
environmental improvements). Initial stages of mapping potential sites and 
discussions with the Estates Team taking place around how it fits with the Council’s 
Acquisitions and Disposal Policy. 

Car Parking 

6.5 With national school holidays in full swing and the good weather we have seen a 
significant increase in car park usage. The technology we have in place to make for 
faster, safer, and more efficient payments seems to be working well. In particular 
the promotion of the MiPermit app means the Council is now well-placed to cope 
with residents’ demand as well as the influx of visitors over the summer months. 

We have identified some issues with poor signal and locations of car parking 
machines, and with support from the Project Team improvements have been made 
by introducing ‘Anywhere Sims’. These Sims can access O2, EE, Vodaphone and 
Three networks all at the same time and provide the highest levels of 
communication, improving the experience users have when making card payments. 
A trial installation of 6 modems into various machines has helped provide us with 
information that suggests this new additional technology helps ensure a seamless 
payment system. Plans are in place to install another 19 of these modems into 
other high usage machines. 

Machines in some of our car parks are being moved to better locations to help with 
signal issues, this work was scheduled to be completed after the August Bank 

Page 30



 

Holiday period as moving machines prior to a busy bank holiday was viewed as an 
unnecessary risk. 

When set against the use of cashless payments systems the use of coins as a 
means of payment shows continued positive signs of slowing down. While there are 
some variations from town to town the recent data from a singular specific day in 
August across all of our machines suggests that the use of coins as a payment 
method has continued to fall and now makes up only approximately 37% of the total 
value of car park income, cards and the mobile phone app account for an improved 
63% of the total value of income. 

The car parks team continue to support events taking place on the Council’s car 
parks, this support is normally delivered through making alternative plans to parking 
conditions on sites or perhaps with the pre warning to motorists that an event is 
imminent. The car parks team initially use temporary signage and leaflets to pre 
warn motorists before closing off the sites needed by event organisers with traffic 
cones. 

Signage and markings continue to be improved with both a bolder and a greater 
number of markings being recently laid at Fairfield and plans for improved markings 
at Otley Road are in place to help the local market team and the storage of their 
equipment. 

Bereavement Services 

6.6 The planned road repairs and creation of grave spaces work in Cockermouth 
Cemetery is due to start in the near future. As a service we have recently been 
assessed and awarded the Charter for the Bereaved gold standard for the 8th year 
running. 

7.0  Leisure and Tourism Portfolio: Cllr Anthony Markley 

Fishing Faces 

7.1 Fishing Faces reveals the people behind the scenes of our fishing industry. It tells 
their stories and is now featured on the Visit Allerdale website. Featured are 
fishermen, producers, a café owner, the RNLI and many others who make such an 
important contribution to the life and economy in Allerdale. The aim is to market the 
stories to encourage visitors to our area and support our Taste festivals. Fishing 
Faces was made possible by our growth funding. We commissioned the Solway 
Firth Partnership to deliver the project following on from an earlier successful 
collaboration to produce the Cumbrian Beach Guide. Phase two will see short films 
also published on Visit Allerdale.  

Hadrian’s Wall Cycleway improvements 

7.2 Following the recent opening of the multi-use path for cyclists and pedestrians, 
largely off road between Allonby and Silloth, a further section of the Hadrian’s Wall 
Cycleway has been improved. Large sections of the path between Maryport and 
Allonby have now been resurfaced with tarmac making them more accessible for 
road bikes, wheelchairs and pushchairs. Funding for these works came from the 
Rural Development Programme for England via the Solway Coast Community 
Team.   

Page 31



 

E-bikes 

7.3 A Cumbrian company has been commissioned to produce a business plan to show 
how we can position Allerdale as a premier E-bike destination in this rapidly growing 
market to support recovery and growth. The business plan will be delivered in 
October 2021 and is being supported by our growth funding. 

Welcoming returning visitors 

7.4 We continue to work with partners on the Cumbria Tactical Visitor Management 
Group to implement plans to safely welcome back visitors. This has included the 
provision of temporary car parking in Borrowdale and Buttermere provided by the 
National Trust, a regular shuttle bus service between Cockermouth and Buttermere 
and well as public information campaigns to help visitors safely get the most out of 
visiting Allerdale whilst respecting the needs of our local communities. 

Perfect Day in Allerdale competition  

7.5 The second Perfect Day in Allerdale competition has closed and has once again a 
high number of entries from across the country. The competition invited visitors to 
describe their perfect day in Allerdale with the winning itinerary being turned into a 
short film to inspire others. The competition was sponsored by the Embleton Spa 
Hotel, the Lakes Distillery, Maryport Aquarium and Go Ape. 

Arts and Culture 

7.6 Five museums have been supported with development of short promotional videos 
to use on their digital media platforms as they opened up for the summer following 
the pandemic.  

Working in partnership with Copeland Borough Council we are in the process of 
commissioning consultants to develop a cultural strategy for West Cumbria. Arts 
Council England is financially supporting this piece of work. 

Leisure centres 

7.7 An invitation to organisations to submit proposals to work with Allerdale Borough 
Council and the people of Keswick has been published and proposals are due back 
in this month (Sept). The work will involve an appraisal of local need and aspirations 
as well as carrying out a market supply and demand exercise based on the current 
industry models.  The exercise will result in a number of potential options to support 
ongoing conversations around future investment for new leisure provision within 
Keswick.   

A wider leisure options appraisal is also now underway to start to think about future 
leisure provision, as the existing leisure centre contract is currently due to end in 
2024.  Members were the first to have been given chance to put forward their initial 
thoughts on future leisure services for our area. We are now asking partners and 
stakeholders for their views.  

Sports Development 

7.8 Eight organisations have been supported with SIIF Sports Development grants so 
far this year with £43,000 awarded and project costs totalling over £120,000.  

Page 32



 

A Borderlands project to improve the Hadrian’s Wall cycle/walking path through a 
strategic, ideally wholly off road route are being developed to support active and 
sustainable travel, delivering benefits to local residents and visitors. The project is 
gathering momentum, with priority projects being assessed against prioritisation 
criteria from September.  

GLL have delivered a successful summer holiday programme of 10p swims, Clip N 
Climb activity and a free scheme for young people who eligible for free school 
meals, supported by the Holiday Activity Fund. 

The Allerdale Playing Pitch and Outdoor Strategy final draft has been sent out to 
the steering group for sign off.  

8.0  Customer Experience and Innovation Portfolio: Cllr Alan Pitcher 

Customer Services 

8.1 Since 1 April the team have spoken to over 30,000 customers on the telephone with 
over 1,300 of those customers choosing to use our free call back service. Overall, 
the average speed of answer was just 72 seconds. 

To put this into context, when asked how satisfied they were with the time it took to 
answer their calls to customer service during Quarter 1 of the year 88% of 
customers surveyed told us that they were either very or somewhat satisfied with 
the response times, the majority being very satisfied. 

 

Feedback from customers on the overall experience of dealing with Customer 
Service is positive with 94% of customers surveyed in quarter 1 indicating they were 
somewhat or very satisfied with the service they had received when contacting the 
customer service team.  

 

Page 33



 

Key phrases and words used by customers surveyed included: 

 

Our new appointments-based service went live across the borough on 19 July in 
line with the lifting of restrictions, and as I mentioned in my last report the demand 
for appointments after the initial telephone triage remains low.  

On the digital front our on-line services continue to be popular with customers who 
use them 24 hours a day seven days a week from their PCs, tablets and smart 
phones. We continue to develop the digital services to make it easier for our 
customers to contact us at their convenience. 

During July we also arranged a complaint handling training session for officers 
which was facilitated by the training team from the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman. The Ombudsman service is independent and the final stage for 
complaints against Councils and some other organisations providing public 
services.   

Details of how councils are performing are published on the ombudsman website 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/allerdale-borough-
council/statistics and alongside the performance information you can view the LGO 
annual review letter for each authority. 

Customer Accounts  

8.2 As always, the Customer Accounts team delivered outstanding performance across 
business-as-usual processes whilst continuing to process the Covid-19 related 
grants.   

  Work is on-going to improve the digital offer to our customers with the development 
of a new on-line service to enable our customers to apply for new housing benefit 
and Council Tax Reduction Scheme claims on-line. The project will also mean that 
customers can submit change of circumstances, council tax discounts and 
exemptions claims on-line and this will help to process applications quickly and 
efficiently. The work is being carried out in partnership with Carlisle and Copeland 
councils.  

This year the reduction in the extended Retail, Hospitality and Leisure relief 
provided by government has reduced from 100% to 66% relief with effect from 1 
July 2021.  The NNDR collection rate was initially calculated on the 100% and 
consequently this reduction will show on our collection rate figures as a net debit 
increase for the year with the amount to be collected increasing from £15,835,645 
up to £22,490,510 and showing as a fall in the collection rate.  This debit will reduce 
as payments on the new rate, which will begin in August and continue through to 
March, are collected.  

Page 34

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/allerdale-borough-council/statistics
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/allerdale-borough-council/statistics


 

Technology Architecture 

8.3 Technology Services continue to develop the new Digital Workspace in readiness 
for its launch in September. This highly secure platform will provide staff with a 
single environment that is accessible on any device that will provide access to all of 
their applications, files and email no matter where they are located, as well as 
traditional intranet services including policies, procedures, council news and a 
social area where groups can discuss their interests. The solution will enable 
Technology Services to simplify its architecture and also make best use of our 
investments in the Microsoft365 platform. 

Spatial Information 

8.4 All of the Council’s spatial information is updated daily and is then vetted by a 
central body (GeoSpace) before it is added to the National Mapping Systems. 
GeoSpace have recognised the Council in its efforts, confirming the data is highly 
accurate and awarded us with their highest level of certification – the Gold 
Standard. 

Starlink 

8.5 Starlink (satellite based internet access) was successfully tested at Silloth meaning 
that we have capability to deploy on-demand broadband services across the 
majority of the region, enabling us to deploy Wi-fi for events and business continuity 
purposes. 

Business Transformation 

8.6 Improvements have been developed across business applications including: 

 A new customer interface for Waste Management; 

 The migration of the payments platform into a cloud-based service; 

 The implementation of a secure communication technology supporting over 
the internet communications between ourselves and central government; 

 A new e-forms solution that enhances customer online access to Revenues 
and Benefits.  

 The implementation of desk booking system and a hot desk environment to 
support hybrid working models; 

 Within the Arcus project we are now developing the online form functionality to 
support customer access and have supported the first migration of regulatory 
data into the Arcus environment. 

Allerdale House and New Ways of Working 

8.7 Further to recent updates on our move to hybrid working arrangements, we have 
launched our online desk booking system and fully equipped hot desk environment, 
refurbishment and reconfiguration of flexible workspaces in Allerdale House, and 
work is ongoing to install AV equipment in meeting rooms to facilitate hybrid 
meetings. There will also be engagement with elected Members regarding the use 
of Allerdale House and other Council buildings as more ‘in person’ meetings return 
to diaries. The implementation of all plans will follow the Government guidance on 
social distancing and the roadmap for easing of Covid restrictions. 

Page 35



 

Enterprise Resource Planning 

8.8 The implementation of the new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system will 
provide integrated applications to manage the business and offer greater 
opportunities to transform back office functions across Finance, Payroll and HR 
services. The project is on schedule and budget with the design workshops now 
completed and training and system configuration meetings taking place in August 
and September. Team members now have access to a test system and preparatory 
work is being undertaken to extract data from legacy systems for cleansing prior to 
being uploaded into the new system. 

Health, Safety and Resilience 

8.9 Over the last 12 months we along with the other authorities across Cumbria have 
been working on revised flood plans specific to Cumbria, but following the national 
strategy.   

As we head towards winter, preparations are underway to carry out several 
emergency planning exercises with partners to test these plans. In total there are 
six exercises, one full day exercise and five shorter table-top exercises. Allerdale 
BC will be taking part in four of those events. 

The objectives are: 

 To exercise multi-agency working at a Strategic and Tactical Command level; 

 To validate Multi Agency Flood Plan (MAFP) Part 1 and 2 for efficiency and 
identify areas for improvement; 

 To identify whether lessons learnt from Storm Desmond (2015) have been 
taken on board and improvements implemented; 

 To ensure all organisations are aware of their and other organisations’ roles 
and responsibilities as set out in the MAFP; 

 To ensure all organisations are implementing their roles and responsibilities in 
accordance with the MAFP; 

 To promote awareness of the limitations of all response organisations; 

 To validate a blended coordination utilising Microsoft Teams and a physical 
Emergency Coordination Centre. 

We also tested our business continuity and building evacuation plans for real 
recently when a suspicious package was delivered to Allerdale House. Working with 
the Police and Fire & Rescue services the building was evacuated whilst 
investigations were completed, the building declared safe for use, and we were 
allowed back in.  

And finally, we welcome Nick Bragg to join us as a permanent member of the 
Health, Safety and Resilience team. Nick brings with him a wealth of experience 
and knowledge to the team. 

Allerdale Local Focus Hub  

8.10 The Allerdale Local Focus Hub (ALFH) team are in Allerdale House alongside the 
Child Centred Policing Team, Licensing and Housing Options teams.  

Monthly place-based newsletters are being published by Cumbria Constabulary and 
we encourage all residents to subscribe to stay up to date with all ALFH activity. We 

Page 36



 

are experiencing an increase in the volume of referrals, the ALFH have received 
106 referrals so far in 2021 (Compared to 122 for the whole of 2020). Referrals 
range from anti-social behaviour, neighbour disputes, noise complaints, drug issues 
and complex location based problems. It is great to see referrals coming in from a 
wide range of partners.  

The ALFH Manager is leading on a youth violence project across West Cumbria, 
(Allerdale and Copeland). Due to the high level of engagement from our young 
people and the established partnership framework we have in place we have 
successfully received a funded place on the National Get Connected programme. 
The strategic and operational delivery groups have worked through a series of fact 
finding workshops and the outcomes are being delivered in a partnership event on 5 
August. The outcomes from this event and the workshops will inform a delivery plan 
to support young people at risk of youth violence in West Cumbria. 

Operation Respect – the multi-agency response to fly tipping in Allerdale has 
gained momentum, our partners Home Group led on an event in the Charles and 
Alexander Close area, supported by the Police, Fire Service, Allerdale Borough 
Council, Tivoli, Allerdale Waste Services, Bell Care and residents. This referral has 
a huge scheme of work planned over the next three to six months and our aim is to 
deliver a Cleaner, Greener Allerdale for everyone. 

The ALFH have worked closely with the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner on the successful Safer Streets funding bid, the PCC have now 
recruited the two Safer Streets Assistants. This is absolutely amazing for our area, 
the ALFH Manager will be responsible for supporting the delivery of the activity in 
the St Michaels community. Lots of work is in progress with partners to ensure the 
network of people are available to support successful delivery of the project. 

Three hugely successful events were hosted by the Hub in Aspatria, Silloth and 
Workington for Anti-Social Behaviour Awareness Week. We had some fantastic 
feedback from the community, over 200 people stopped to talk to us and provide 
their feedback. The Youth Council joined us and led an interactive session with 
young people, the Youth Parliament member was also there to support. 

9.0  Finance and Legal Portfolio: Cllr Colin Sharpe 

Legal Services 

9.1 The Legal Services Team continues to support the Council in the delivery of its 
priorities and objectives across the board.  The team has carried out extensive work 
to assist with the Oldside project, attending court regarding unlawful encampments 
and assisting with signage, cameras and securing the site.  There have been a 
number of planning and building control enforcement matters which the team 
continues to assist with, and there has been significant input to a number of 
significant procurements such as the appointment of a strategic partner to help with 
the larger projects in Workington and Maryport. 

 Licensing  

9.2 The Licensing Team has appointed a temporary Licensing Enforcement Officer for 
six months who has a wealth of experience, to assist with an audit of premises post-
Covid.  This is with a view to ensuring that the Authority holds the most up-to-date 

Page 37



 

information and is receiving the appropriate income.  The pandemic has presented 
a number of difficulties in terms of ensuring that premises are compliant and it is 
anticipated that the relaxation of restrictions will increase workload significantly in 
the next few months as premises re-open and more events are planned.  The taxi 
testing function has been successfully transferred over to the Council’s Local 
Authority Trading Company, AWSL, and regular meetings are being held to ensure 
that service provision is of the highest standard. 

 Assurance, Audit and Risk  

9.3 The next Audit Committee meeting is scheduled for 27 September 2021. The 
National Fraud Initiative (NFI) is a data matching exercise conducted by the Cabinet 
Office which requires annual data to support the early prevention and detection of 
fraud in organisations. The teams responsible for the data match work including 
audit have been working through their matches for the October completion 
deadline. To date, 33 errors, which equates to a value of £2,732.46 has been 
identified, all of which is being recovered.  

The Assurance Risk and Audit (ARA) Officer continues to support the grants teams 
with fraud work. Any suspected fraud identified is forwarded to all necessary 
parties. As part of the restructure the Audit Service will have a shared manager with 
Copeland Borough Council. 

The ARA Officer also continues supporting the ERP team with assurance and risk 
in relation to the implementation of the Council’s planned ERP System (to replace 
the current finance system) and attends the Project Team meetings.  

Statement of Accounts 2020-21 

9.4 In line with the statutory timetable the Council’s unaudited 2020-21 Statement of 
Accounts and Annual Governance Statement (AGS) was published on the Council’s 
website on 30 July 2021. The audit of the 2020-21 Statement of Accounts is 
scheduled to take place during August and September 2021, after which the 
audited Statement of Accounts will be presented for approval by the Audit 
Committee.  

Covid-19 financial monitoring 

9.5 The Financial Services Team continue to monitor the financial impact of Covid-19 
and completing monthly government returns in respect of Covid-19 local authority 
financial management information. Finance support continues to be provided to 
service managers around their use and monitoring of Covid-19 specific grants and 
the preparation of grant claims, in respect of these, where applicable.  

Enterprise Resource Planning system (ERP) 

9.6 Members of the finance team are now heavily involved in regular training sessions 
around the configuration and use of the system. Preparation work in respect of 
planned data migration has also commenced.  

10.0  Delivery arrangements 

10.1 Not applicable to this report. 

Page 38



 

11.0 Implications and Impact 

11.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

This is an update on Portfolio activity in line with the Council’s priorities as set out in 
the Council Strategy 2020-2030. 

11.2 Finance/Resource implications 

 None directly associated with this report. 

11.3 Legal and governance implications  

 None directly associated with this report. 

11.4 Risk analysis 

 Not applicable to this report. 

11.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

None directly associated with this report.   

11.6 Equality impacts 

 None directly associated with this report. 

11.7 Health and Safety impacts 

None directly associated with this report. 

11.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

None directly associated with this report. 

11.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

None directly associated with this report. 

11.10 Other significant implications 

None. 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

None  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

None  

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Page 39



 

Alex FitzGerald 
Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 702719  

Page 40



At a meeting of the Executive held in Top Floor, Allerdale House on Wednesday 23 
June 2021 at 4.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Mike Johnson (Chair)  
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Jim Lister 
Councillor Anthony Markley 
 

Councillor Alan Pitcher 
Councillor Colin Sharpe, Remote 
attendance via video conference 
 

 
Staff Present 
 
N Hardy, J Irving, L Jardine, C Nicholson, G Roach, A Seekings and G Wilson (Remote 
attendance via video conference) 
 
 
70. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 May 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

71. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

72. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

73. Members' Announcements  
 
None received. 
 

74. Quarter 4 Performance Report 2020/21  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) submitted a 
report to advise members on the Council’s performance at the end of quarter 
four 2020/21, covering the period from 1 January to 31 March 2021. 
 
Members considered and noted the progress made against each of the key 
projects and activities set out in the Corporate Business Plan. 
 
The report contained 39 projects/activities and 40 key performance indicators.  
Of the projects/activities 7 were marked as complete, 29 were on target, 2 had 
concerns over their deadlines or outputs being achieved and 1 had significant 
concerns on achieving outputs. 
Of the listed KPIs, 16 were on target, 8 had concerns on their target being 
achieved, 2 had significant concerns and 13 were not targeted. 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10



Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the report. The recommendation was 
unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
None 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To advise members of progress on the Corporate Business Plan 
priorities/activities and KPIs at the end of quarter four 2020/21. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

75. Appointments to Outside Bodies 2021-22  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Chief Officer Place and Governance submitted a report which sought 
members to appoint representatives to serve on Outside Bodies which were a 
function of the Executive. 
 
Members were asked to agree the nominations to the Outside Bodies as 
outlined in Paragraph 4.7 of the report. 
  
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor T Markley. The recommendation was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
Not to appoint representatives on to the Outside Bodies. 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To nominate and appoint representatives to serve on Outside Bodies which 
were a function of the Executive. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the appointment of representatives on Outside Bodies be as follows: 
 

Outside Body 
No of 
Reps 

Length 
of Appt. 

Representative(s) 

Allerdale Disability Association 2 1 Year Cllr T Markley 
Cllr A Pitcher 

    

Page 42



Cumbria Community Foundation 
West Cumbria Panel 

2 3 Year Cllr R Munby 
Cllr A Pitcher 

    

Cumbria Tourist Board 1 1 Year Cllr A Markley 

    

Risk and Hazard Reduction and 
Waste Group - sub group of 
West Cumbria Sites Stakeholder 
Group 

3 1 Year Cllr A Tyson 
Cllr M Fitzgerald 
Cllr M Campbell-
Savours 

    

Spent Fuel Management and 
Nuclear Materials Working 
Group - sub group of West 
Cumbria Sites Stakeholder 
Group 

3 1 Year Cllr A Tyson 
Cllr M Fitzgerald 
Cllr A Semple 

    

West Cumbria Site Stakeholder 
Group (Formerly Sellafield Local 
Liaison Committee) 

1 1 Year Cllr T Markley 

    

Westfield Housing Association 1 1 Year Cllr C Bell 

 
The meeting closed at 4.10 pm 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 22 September 2021 
 

Recommendations Referred to Council 
 

Treasury Management Annual Review 2020/21 
 

 
The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 13 September 2021. It is for Council to consider its 
response. 
 
 
 
Recommended –  
 
That members note the contents of the report. 

 
 
 
 
 

L Jardine 
Democratic and Support Services Officer 

Page 45

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



Allerdale Borough Council 

Audit Committee - 13 September 2021 

Council - 22 September 2021 

Treasury Management – Annual Review 2020-21
 

Portfolio holder Councillor Colin Sharpe 
 PH Finance and Legal  

Report from Catherine Nicholson, Chief Officer - Assets  
 Tel: 01900-702503  
 Email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk  

Wards affected None directly 

Is this a key decision  No 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s treasury 
management (TM) activities during 2020-21, the effects of TM decisions and 
transactions executed in the past year and of compliance with its Treasury 
Management Policy. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1  Members are recommended to note the contents of this report.  

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 require the Council to 
produce an annual report on its treasury management activities and prudential and 
treasury indicators for the financial year. This report satisfies that obligation and the 
associated reporting requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the TM Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). 

  

Page 47



3.2 During 2020-21 the minimum reporting requirements - set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment Strategy - were 
that Council should receive the following reports: 

 an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy in advance of the year (Council - 4 March 2020)  

 a mid-year treasury update report (Council - 9 December 2020) 

 an annual review, following the end of the year, describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report). 

3.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and 
scrutiny of the Council’s treasury management policies and activities. This report is 
important in that respect, as it provides: 

 details of the Council’s treasury activities during the financial year and its 
overall treasury position at 31 March 2021  

 evidence of compliance with the treasury policies previously approved by 
members. 

3.4 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management reports, including the 
annual report, to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by 
Full Council.   

3.5 This report summarises the following:  

 Economic background (section 4) 

 Overall treasury position at 31 March 2021 (section 5) 

 Borrowing requirement (section 6) 

 PWLB borrowing rates (section 7) 

 Borrowing strategy for 2020-21(section 8) 

 Borrowing activity during 2020-21 (section 9) 

 Investment rates (section 10) 

 Investment strategy for 2020-21 (section 11) 

 Investment outturn for 2020-21 (section 12) 

 Prudential and Treasury Indicators (section 13 and Appendix A). 

4.0 Economic Background 

 U.K. 

 Coronavirus.  

4.1 The financial year 2020-21 will go down in history as being the year of the 
pandemic. Over the course of the year, Covid-19 and the actions to contain it have 
had a dramatic and rapidly changing impact on the UK economy and the economies 
of countries around the world. In the UK, the first national lockdown in late March 
2020 did huge damage to an economy that was unprepared for such an eventuality.  
This caused an economic downturn that exceeded the one caused by the financial 
crisis of 2008-09.  

Page 48



4.2 The economy has however adapted well to accommodate subsequent lockdowns. 
In comparison to the lockdown in the spring of 2020, the short second lockdown in 
November did relatively little damage and by the time of the third lockdown in 
January 2021, businesses and individuals had become more resilient in adapting to 
working in new ways during a three-month lockdown. As a result, the economy 
suffered much less damage than was caused in the first one. The advent of 
vaccines starting in November 2020, were also a game changer and have 
enormously boosted confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal 
during the second half of 2021.  

4.3 The way in which the UK and US have led the world in implementing a fast 
programme of vaccination which promises to lead to a return to something 
approaching normal life during the second half of 2021, has been instrumental in 
speeding economic recovery and the reopening of the economy. In addition, the 
household saving rate has been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March 
2020, meaning there is plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up 
for services in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel and hotels as soon 
as they reopen. It is therefore expected that the UK economy could recover towards 
pre-pandemic level of economic activity over the course of 2021. 

 

 

4.4 2020 started with optimistic business surveys pointing to an upswing in growth after the 
ending of political uncertainty, following the decisive result of the general election in 
December, settled the Brexit issue. However, the GDP statistics for quarter 4 were 
disappointing, with growth remaining static at 0.0% growth (+1.1% y/y). Since then, the 
whole world has changed as a result of the coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic.  

 
  

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

105

110

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

105

110

Jan-20 Apr-20 Jul-20 Oct-20 Jan-21 Apr-21 Jul-21 Oct-21 Jan-22

Lockdowns GDP (Feb. 2020 = 100)

Few

restrictions 

Schools 

open

Non-essential retail

open

Hospitality

open

Capital Economics Forecast

Page 49



4.5 Overall UK growth in quarter 1 of 2020 (January to March) was -2.8% (-2.2% compared 
to quarter 1 of 2019). At the time, this was the largest drop in UK GDP since the third 
quarter of 1979 as lockdown measures introduced from mid-March forced non-
essential businesses to close and consumers to stay at home. However, the full 
impact of the pandemic on economic growth did not emerge until quarter 2 (April to 
June) when the economy contracted by -19.5% (-21.4% compared to the same quarter 
a year ago). This was the largest quarterly contraction in the UK economy since Office 
for National Statistics (ONS) quarterly records began in 1955 and reflects the impact of 
measures introduced to limit transmission of the virus and the closedown of whole 
sections of the economy. 

4.6  In quarter 3 of 2020, (July to September) UK GDP increased by a record 16.9% as 
lockdown restrictions were lifted and pent up demand was released into the 
economy. However, while output in the services, production and construction 
sectors increased by record amounts in quarter 3, GDP nevertheless remained 
below quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2019 levels, before the impact of the coronavirus 
pandemic was seen. After the strong growth recorded for quarter 3, a further short-
lived lockdown in November contributed to a slow-down in the pace of growth. In 
the last three months of 2020, the economy expanded 1.3%. For 2020 as whole, the 
economy contracted by 9.8%, the steepest drop since consistent records began in 
1948. This compares with growth of 1.4% in 2019. 

4.7 Following the two-quarter period of growth at the end of 2020, the emergence of a 
new variant of the virus and the re-introduction of Covid-related restrictions in 
January, UK GDP fall by 1.6% in quarter 1 of 2021 (Jan to March). This left the 
economy around 8.8% below its pre-pandemic levels at the end of 2019 (2019 Q4). 
Compared with the same quarter a year ago, the UK economy fell by 6.1%. 

4.8 The outlook for the UK economy remains uncertain. It is dependent on the evolution 
of the pandemic and the measures taken to protect public health. It will also depend 
on how governments, households, businesses and financial markets respond to 
those developments. In the near term, and in the absence of most restrictions on 
domestic economic activity, UK GDP is expected to recover over the remainder of 
2021 and reach its pre-pandemic level in quarter 4 of 2021, as the impact of Covid 
continues to dissipate and activity continues to be supported by government 
spending.  

4.9 Both the Government and the Bank of England took rapid action in March 2020, at 
the height of the crisis, to provide support to financial markets to ensure their proper 
functioning, and to support the economy and protect jobs.  

4.10 Two emergency cuts in the Bank Rate occurred in March 2020. The first on 11 March 
(from 0.75% to 0.25%) and the second on 19 March (from 0.25% to 0.1%). These cuts 
were accompanied by an increase in quantitative easing (QE), to increase the Bank of 
England’s holdings of UK government bonds and sterling non-financial investment-
grade corporate bonds by £200 billion. Two further tranches of quantitative easing of 
£100bn and £150bn were announced in June and November 2020 to a total of 
£895bn. The Government and the Bank also implemented an extensive range of other 
fiscal and monetary policy measures aimed at protecting jobs, helping firms struggling 
with cash flow problems and limiting any lasting damage to the economy.  

Page 50



4.11 While the Bank Rate remained unchanged for the rest of the year, financial markets 
were concerned that the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) could cut the 
Bank Rate into negative territory. However, the Bank’s August Monetary Policy 
report played down the prospects of using negative interest rates by suggesting that 
while negative rates can work in some circumstances, it would be “less effective as 
a tool to stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are worried about future 
loan losses. It also has “other instruments available”, including QE and the use of 
forward guidance. The Governor of the Bank of England also made it clear that he 
thought that such a move would do more damage than good and that more 
quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary.  

4.12 Significantly, neither the minutes from the MPC’s November meeting, or the 
November Monetary Policy Report, contained any reference to negative interest 
rates, suggesting that the MPC still remained some way from being persuaded of 
the case for such a policy, at least for the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than 
saying that it “stands ready to adjust monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it 
would take “whatever additional action was necessary to achieve its remit”.  

4.13 At its February meeting, the Bank of England removed negative interest rates as a 
possibility for at least six months after the findings of structured engagement 
between the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and PRA-regulated firms found 
that financial institutions were not ready to implement a negative bank rate over a 
timeframe shorter than six months. The Bank did however request the PRA engage 
with regulated firms to ensure that they commence preparations in order to 
implement a negative bank rate at any point after six months. In making this 
request, the MPC stressed that this move should not be interpreted as a signal that 
the setting of negative rates was imminent or in prospect at any time. Therefore, 
whilst this action will ensure negative rates remain part of the Bank’s ’Monetary 
Policy Toolkit’ given the prospect that in six months’ time the economy should be 
starting to grow strongly, this effectively means that negative rates occurring were 
unlikely during the current downturn. 

 Average inflation targeting  

4.14 2020-21 saw a major change adopted by the Bank of England in terms of 
implementing its inflation target of 2%. In August, a key addition to the Bank’s 
forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy statement, namely that “it does not 
intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear evidence that significant 
progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2% target 
sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation rises to 2% 
in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to raise the Bank 
Rate until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be persistently above 
target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate. This sets a high bar for raising the 
Bank Rate with no increase in the Bank Rate currently expected before March 
2023.  

4.15 Inflation has been well under the Bank of England’s 2% target throughout 2020-21. 
The twelve-month CPI inflation rate fell from 1.7% in quarter 1 (Jan to March) 2020 
to 0.6% in quarters 2 and 3 and 0.5% in quarter 4. After rising to 0.7% in January 
2021, it then fell to 0.4% in February before rising to 0.7% in March to return a rate 
of 0.7% for quarter 1 of 2021. The below target rates of CPI inflation, during 2020-

Page 51



21, can, in large part, be accounted for by the direct and indirect effects of the 
Covid-19 pandemic on the economy. 

4.16 Since the year end, CPI inflation has risen sharply from 0.7% in March to 2.5% in 
June and is projected by the Bank of England to rise temporarily to around 4% in 
quarter 4 of 2021 and quarter 1 of 2022, before falling back to close to the 2% 
target. This rise largely reflects the impact of the pandemic as the economy 
recovers. This has led to higher energy and goods prices, which in turn reflects 
rising commodity prices, transportation bottlenecks, constraints on production and 
strong global demand for goods. However, the above-target CPI inflation is 
expected to be temporary and, as commodity prices stabilise, global demand 
rebalances and supply shortages ease, inflation is expected to fall back to close to 
the 2% target in the medium term. 

4.17 The sharp reductions in activity during 2020 lowered the demand for labour. Data 
from the Labour Force Survey (LFS) showed that, despite the extensive take-up of 
support from temporary government schemes, such as the Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS), 
redundancies and low levels of hiring contributed to both a fall in the employment 
rate and rise in the unemployed rate since the start of the pandemic. 

4.18 Figures for the period January to March 2021 show a significant increase in the 
unemployment rate over the course of the preceding 12-months alongside falls in 
the employment rate. The UK employment rate for those aged 16 to 64, in the three 
months to March 2021 was estimated at 74.7%, 1.6 percentage points lower than a 
year earlier. Meanwhile the Labour Force Survey (LFS) unemployment rate rose to 
5.0% in the three months to March 2021. This is 0.9 percentage points higher than 
a year earlier.  

 Government support.  

4.19 Over the course of 2020-21, the Government and Bank of England announced 
numerous fiscal and monetary policy measures to provide financial support 
businesses and protect jobs. In addition to the reduction in the bank rate and 
expansion of the Bank of England’s QE programme outlined above, these 
measures have included:  

 the Term Lending Scheme to enable banks to access cheap loans and 
additional capacity to lend to businesses  

 employment support schemes, most notably the Coronavirus Job Retention 
Scheme (CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) 
and other measures  

 government backed financial loan schemes 

 other support for businesses including grants to business, business rates 
relief and other tax measures.  

4.20 Coupled with the reductions in tax revenues and increases in welfare payments 
generated from the slowdown in economic activity, this support has come at a huge 
cost in terms of the Government’s budget deficit. In 2020-21 government borrowing 
is estimated at £300.3 billion, £243.1 billion more than in the same period last year. 
This is equivalent to 14.3% of GDP and is the highest such ratio since the end of 

Page 52



World War Two when it was 15.2% in the financial year to March 1946. Between 
March 2020 and March 2021, government debt increased from 84% of GDP to 
around 98% of GDP.  

4.21 The Budget on 3 March 2021 increased fiscal support to the economy and 
employment during 2021 and 2022, to be followed by substantial tax rises in the 
following three years to help pay for the cost for the pandemic. This will help further 
to strengthen the economic recovery from the pandemic and return the 
government’s finances to a balanced budget on a current expenditure and income 
basis in 2025-26. This will stop the Debt to GDP ratio rising further from 100%.  

4.22 An area of concern though, is that the government’s debt is now twice as sensitive 
to interest rate rises as before the pandemic due to QE operations substituting fixed 
long-term debt for floating rate debt. As a consequence there is a significant  
incentive for the Government to promote the Bank Rate staying low e.g. by using 
fiscal policy in conjunction with the monetary policy action by the Bank of England to 
keep inflation from rising too high, and/or by amending the Bank’s policy mandate to 
allow for a higher target for inflation. 

 Brexit  

4.23 The final agreement of a trade deal between the UK and EU on 24 December 2020 
has eliminated a significant downside risk for the UK economy. However, the initial 
agreement only covers trade in goods so there is further work to be done on the 
services sector where temporary equivalence has been granted in both directions 
between the UK and EU; that now needs to be formalised on a permanent basis. 
There was significant disruption to trade in January and February with complex 
customs paperwork presenting a formidable barrier to trade. Whilst this appears to 
have eased somewhat since then, it remains an area in need of further work to ease 
difficulties that are still acute in some areas. 

 U.S. 

4.24 Compared to the UK economy, the US economy suffered less damage due to the 
pandemic and has been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 2020. After 
falling by 5.1% in quarter 1 of 2020, GDP fell at a record annualised rate of 31.2% in 
quarter 2 as the impact of the pandemic hit the economy hard. Following what was 
the largest ever contraction, the economy rebounded strongly in quarter 3 to record 
its biggest ever quarterly expansion of 33.8% (annualised). However, a rise in 
Covid-19 cases and restrictions on activity during quarter 4 saw growth slow to 
4.5%. Over 2020 as a whole, the economy shrank by 3.5% compared with growth of 
1.9% in 2019. In quarter 1 of 2021, the continued economic recovery, reopening of 
establishments, and ongoing government response to the pandemic, saw growth 
pick up to 6.3%.  

4.25 After peaking at 14.4% in April 2020, the unemployment rate was on a downward 
trend over the remainder of 2020, dropping below 7% in the final quarter of 2020 
(Oct to Dec). CPI Inflation remained below the Federal Reserve’s 2% target 
throughout 2020 but rose in quarter 1 of 2021 to 2.6% in March 2021. 

4.26 The Democrats won the presidential election in late 2020 and gained control of both 
Congress and the Senate, although power is more limited in the latter. This enabled 

Page 53



the Democrats to pass a $1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) stimulus package in March 2021 on 
top of the $900bn fiscal stimulus deal passed by Congress in late December. 
These, together with the vaccine rollout proceeding swiftly to hit the target of giving 
a first jab to over half of the population within the President’s first 100 days, will 
promote a rapid easing of restrictions and strong economic recovery during 2021. 
The Democrats are also now negotiating to pass a $1trn fiscal stimulus package 
aimed at renewing infrastructure over the next decade. Although this package is 
longer-term, if passed, it would also help economic recovery in the near-term. 

4.27 At its end of August meeting, the Federal Reserve (the Fed.) revised its inflation 
target from 2% to maintaining an average of 2% over an unspecified time-period. 
That is, following periods when inflation has been running persistently below 2%, 
appropriate monetary policy will likely aim to achieve inflation moderately above 2% 
for some time so that inflation averages 2% over time and longer-term inflation 
expectations remain well anchored at 2%. At the mid-September meeting the Fed. 
added that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the current target range until 
labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's 
assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on 
track to moderately exceed 2% for some time."  

4.28 This change is aimed at providing more stimulus for economic growth and higher 
levels of employment and avoiding the danger of getting caught in a deflationary 
“trap” like Japan. Given inflation has actually been under-shooting the Federal 
Reserve’s 2% target significantly for most of the last decade (and this year), 
financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in the 
pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. There is now some 
expectation that where the Fed has led in changing its policy towards implementing 
its inflation and full employment mandate, other major central banks will follow (as 
the Bank of England has already done) by allowing inflation to run higher for longer, 
even if they do not call it a policy of average inflation targeting as such. 

4.29 The Fed. expects strong economic growth during 2021 to have only a transitory 
impact on inflation, which explains why the majority of Fed. officials project US 
interest rates to remain near-zero through to the end of 2023. The key message is 
still that policy will remain unusually accommodative, with near-zero rates and asset 
purchases continuing for several more years. This is likely to result in keeping 
treasury yields at historically low levels.  

4.30 However, financial markets in 2021 have been concerned that the sheer amount of 
fiscal stimulus, on top of highly accommodative monetary policy, could be over-kill 
leading to a rapid elimination of spare capacity in the economy and generating 
higher inflation much quicker than the Fed. expects. They have also been 
concerned as to how and when the Fed. will eventually wind down its programme of 
monthly QE purchases of treasuries. These concerns have pushed treasury yields 
sharply up in the US in 2021. It is also likely that they have exerted some upward 
pressure on gilt yields in the UK. 

 Eurozone 

4.31 Both the rollout and take up of vaccines was disappointingly slow in the EU in the 
first few months of 2021 but has since been rapidly catching up. This delay will 

Page 54



inevitably put back economic recovery. In quarter 3 (July to September) of 2020 the 
economy had staged a rapid rebound from the sharp drop in GDP caused by the 
first lockdowns. However, a second wave of the virus saw GDP contract slightly in 
quarter 4 to end 2020 4.9% below its pre-pandemic level. After contracting by 
another 0.3% in quarter 1 of 2021, recovery will now be delayed until quarter 3 of 
2021. At its June 2021 meeting, the ECB forecast strong economic recovery with 
growth of 4.6% and 4.7% in 2021 and 2022 respectively. 

4.32 Inflation remained well under 2% during 2020-21 but is is likely to rise sharply to 
around 2.5% for a short period during 2021. However, as this will be transitory, due 
to one-off factors, it is likely to cause the ECB little concern. 

4.33 In response to a downturn in Eurozone and global growth, the ECB cut its main 
deposit rate further into negative territory from -0.4% to -0.5% in September 2019. 
No additional cuts were made to the ECB’s main rate during 2020-21 and it is 
currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even further into negative territory 
from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains this as a possible tool to 
use.  

4.34 Once coronavirus started having a major impact in Europe, the ECB took action in 
March 2020 to expand its QE operations and other measures to help promote 
expansion of credit and economic growth. This included increasing its planned 
asset purchases for the year by €1,470bn, on top of the existing commitment of 
€20bn per month. The new purchases consist of an additional €120bn within the 
existing Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP), and €1,350bn in the 
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP). 

4.35 At its meeting in December, the ECB added a further €500bn to the Pandemic 
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP), covering the purchase of government 
and other bonds. It also extended the duration of the programme to March 2022 and 
the reinvestment of principal payments from maturing securities purchased under 
the PEPP scheme until at least the end of 2023. Three additional tranches of the 
targeted longer-term refinancing operations (TLTRO), to provide cheap loans to 
banks, were also approved, indicating that support will last beyond the impact of the 
pandemic, implying indirect yield curve control for government bonds for some time 
ahead. 

4.36 The total PEPP scheme of €1,850bn of quantitative easing, which started in March 
2020, is providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like 
Italy. There is therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain 
this level of support. The March ECB meeting also took action to suppress the rise 
in long bond yields by stepping up its monthly PEPP purchases. Meetings in April 
and June confirmed these policies so monetary policy will remain highly 
accommodative with no sign yet of tapering of asset purchases. 

 Asia  

4.37 In China, a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in quarter 1 saw 
strong economic recovery during the remainder of 2020. This has enabled it to 
recover all of the contraction experienced in quarter 1 of 2020. Policy makers have 
both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal 
support that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth. At the 
same time, China’s economy has benefited from the shift towards online spending 

Page 55



by consumers in developed markets. These factors help to explain its comparative 
outperformance compared to western economies.  

4.38 However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more 
infrastructure spending. After years of growth focused on this same area, any 
further spending in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic 
returns in the longer term. This could therefore, lead to a further misallocation of 
resources that will weigh on growth in future years. After making a rapid recovery in 
2020-21, growth is likely to be tepid in 2021-22.  

4.39 In Japan, a third round of fiscal stimulus in early December took the total additional 
fiscal spending this year, in response to the virus, close to 12% of pre-virus GDP. 
This represents one of the largest national fiscal responses to the crisis. Coupled 
with Japan’s relative success in containing the virus without draconian measures 
and an acceleration of the roll out of vaccines in 2021, the government’s latest fiscal 
effort should help ensure a strong recovery and a return to pre-virus levels by the 
end of 2021, around the same time as the US and sooner than the Eurozone. 
However, on the negative side, Japan has continued to struggle to get out of a 
deflation trap, to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up 
to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little 
progress on fundamental reform of the economy 

 Global Growth 

4.40 World growth was in recession in 2020 but should recover during 2021. Inflation is 
unlikely to be a significant problem in most countries for some years due to the 
creation of excess production capacity and depressed demand during the 
coronavirus crisis. 

4.41 Until recent years, global growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e. 
countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an 
economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world. This has 
boosted worldwide productivity and growth and, by lowering costs, has also 
depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over 
the last 30 years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has 
unbalanced the world economy.  

4.42 In March 2021, western democracies implemented limited sanctions against a few 
officials in charge of government policy on the Uighurs in Xinjiang. This led to a 
much bigger retaliation by China that caused considerable consternation in western 
countries. After the pandemic exposed how frail extended supply lines were around 
the world, both factors are now likely to lead to a sharp retrenchment of economies 
into two blocs of western democracies versus autocracies. It is, therefore, likely that 
we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation 
and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply 
products and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from rates in 
prior decades. 

 

 

Page 56



5.0 Overall Treasury Position at 31 March 2021 

5.1 The Council’s treasury position at the beginning and end of 2020-21 was as follows: 

Table 1: Overall treasury position  

  
31.3.20 

Principal 
Rate/ 

Return1 
Av. Life   

31.3.21 
Principal 

Rate/ 
Return1 

Av. Life   

  £’000 %   Years £’000 %   Years 

PWLB loans  17,247 4.97 21 16,563 5.05 21 

Other borrowing 85 0.00 < 1  85 0.00 < 1  

Total debt 17,332 4.95 - 16,648 5.02 - 

Short-term investments 8,992 0.20 < 1  14,881 0.01 < 1  

Long-term investments2 11 5.00 -  12 8.80 -  

Bank overdraft less cash (1,551) - - (3,301) - - 

Total investments  7,452 0.21 -  11,592 0.02 -  

1 weighted average rate on borrowing/investments at 31 March (for illustrative purposes only)  
2 Not including ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategies 

5.2 The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised in 
order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments and to manage risks within all treasury management activities. 
Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are well established, both 
through member reporting detailed in the introduction and through officer activity 
detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.   

5.3 Items included in table 1 comprise borrowing and investments in financial instruments 
held for treasury management purposes (i.e. investments made to support effective 
treasury management activity) covered by the Authority’s Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategies. Excluded from table 1 are:  

 ‘service/policy investments’ in financial assets such as loans supporting service 
outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures made for policy 
reasons, (rather than for treasury management purposes); this includes the 
Authority’s investment (loan notes) in Allerdale Investment Partnership LLP 

 commercial investments in non-financial assets (for example, investment 
property) held primarily or partially to generate a profit. 

6.0 The Borrowing Requirement  

6.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is measured 
by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants, 
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing).   

  

Page 57



6.2 Capital expenditure that is not financed when incurred, through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the capital financing requirement. It will also give rise to a requirement to 
make an annual charge to the general fund, known as the minimum revenue 
provision (MRP). Charging the minimum revenue provision or a voluntary revenue 
provision (in addition to the MRP) against the general fund will reduce the CFR.   

6.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020-21 included an 
expected net increase in the CFR of £12.262m during 2020-21 and a closing CFR 
at 31 March 2021 of £35.159m. This increase was based on the 2020-21 capital 
budget approved by Council in March 2020 and the revised capital budget for 2019-
20 approved in December 2019. It also included an adjustment of £6.816m to 
accommodate the CFR impact of implementing IFRS 16-leases previously expected 
to take effect from 1 April 2020. The estimated increase in the CFR during 2020-21 
and the closing CFR balance at 31 March 2021 were later revised to £4.817m and 
£26.953m respectively. The net reduction to the expected movement in the CFR of 
£8.206m reflects:  

 the 2019-20 capital outturn position and approved budget carry forwards 
incorporated into the 2020-21 revised capital budget. This reduced the 
opening CFR at 1 April 2020 by £0.761m and added £0.657m to the 
expected increase in 2020-21  

 capital expenditure savings bids of £1.310m, funded from borrowing, 
included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget  

 reprofiling adjustments included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget to 
move £0.130m of previously approved expenditure, funded from borrowing, 
from  2020-21 to 2021-22  

 removal of £6.816m from the CFR balance at 1 April 2021 following the 
decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC to defer the implementation to 1 April 
2021 and subsequently to 1 April 2022 

 £0.1m reduction to the CFR arising from the decision taken by the Executive 
in October to discontinue the Reedlands Road project  

 £0.254m reduction to the MRP (increase in CFR) to reflect the 2019-20 
outturn position and deferred implementation of IFRS 16. 

6.4 Details of actual borrowing transactions undertaken in 2020-21 are summarised in 
section 9. 

6.5 At 31 March 2021, the Council’s capital financing requirement stood at £21.136m 
compared to £22.136m at 31 March 2020. The decrease of £1.0m over the course 
of 2020-21 reflects:  

 an increase of £234k relating to unfinanced capital expenditure incurred 
during the year   

 a reduction of £106k arising from the decision taken by the Executive in 
October to discontinue the Reedlands Road project 

 a reduction of £1,128k resulting from amounts set aside from revenue (the 
minimum revenue provision), calculated in accordance with the approved 
MRP Policy Statement for 2020-21. 

Page 58



Table 2: Capital Financing Requirement 

  

31.3.20  

Updated 
Estimate 

31.3.20 

Actual 

31.3.21 

Approved  
Estimate  

31.3.21 

Updated 
Estimate 

31.3.21  
Actual 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

CFR at 31 March 22,897 22,136 35,159 26,953 21,136 

6.6 The variance of £5.817m between the actual and updated estimate of the CFR at 
31 March 2021 comprises: 

 £5.726m relating to the unfinanced portion of approved 2020-21 capital 
budget carry forwards (i.e. the amount funded from borrowing) of £8.531m 

 £91k reduction in unfunded capital expenditure associated with the reported 
net underspend (after budget carry-forwards) of £189k. 

6.7 Capital budget carry-forwards of £8.531m were approved as part of the 2020-21 
Capital Outturn report presented to the Council’s Executive on 21 July 2021. These 
carry-forwards relate to the re-profiling of previously approved budget expenditure, 
from 2020-21 to 2021-22, in respect of the following capital schemes: 

 Regeneration and Investment - carry forward £4,400k (£4,400k unfinanced) 

 Lillyhall Infrastructure - carry forward £1,763k (£491k unfinanced) 

 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants - carry forward £555k (£0k unfinanced) 

 Workington - Towns Funding Scheme - carry forward £482k (£14k 
unfinanced) 

 Strategic Acquisitions - carry forward £379k (£299k unfinanced) 

 Brow Top Enhancement Schemes - carry forward £374k (£314k unfinanced) 

 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes - carry forward £160k 
(£59k unfinanced) 

 Maryport Regeneration - HAZ- carry forward £106k (£0k unfinanced) 

 Kirkgate Centre Contribution - carry forward £100k (£100k unfinanced) 

 Other schemes - carry forward £212k (£49k unfinanced). 

7.0 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates in 2020-21 

7.1 Interest rate forecasts provided by the Authority’s Treasury advisors (Link Asset 
Services) and included in the TMSS and Mid-year update, expected only gradual 
rises in medium and longer-term fixed borrowing rates during 2020-21 and the two 
subsequent financial years. Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the 
cheaper form of borrowing over the period. Table 3 shows the PWLB borrowing rate 
forecasts included in the TMSS and the updated forecast included in the Mid-year 
update report. The latter was issued following publication of the quarterly Bank of 
England Monetary Policy Report in August 2020 and the decisions and forward 
guidance issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its meeting on 
4 August.   

  

Page 59



Table 3: Forecast interest rates 2020-2023  

Quarter 
ending 

Bank Rate % 
PWLB Borrowing Rates1  

5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year % 

TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr 

Mar-20 0.75 - 2.40   2.70   3.30   3.20   

Jun-20 0.75 - 2.40 - 2.70 - 3.40 - 3.30 - 

Sep-20 0.75 0.10 2.50 1.90 2.70 2.10 3.40 2.50 3.30 2.30 

Dec-20 0.75 0.10 2.50 1.90 2.80 2.10 3.50 2.50 3.40 2.30 

Mar-21 1.00 0.10 2.60 2.00 2.90 2.10 3.60 2.50 3.50 2.30 

Jun-21 1.00 0.10 2.70 2.00 3.00 2.10 3.70 2.50 3.60 2.30 

Sep-21 1.00 0.10 2.80 2.00 3.10 2.10 3.70 2.60 3.60 2.40 

Dec-21 1.00 0.10 2.90 2.00 3.20 2.20 3.80 2.60 3.70 2.40 

Mar-22 1.00 0.10 2.90 2.00 3.20 2.20 3.90 2.60 3.80 2.40 

Jun-22 1.25 0.10 3.00 2.10 3.30 2.20 4.00 2.70 3.90 2.50 

Sep-22 1.25 0.10 3.10 2.10 3.30 2.30 4.00 2.70 3.90 2.50 

Dec-22 1.25 0.10 3.20 2.10 3.40 2.30 4.10 2.70 4.00 2.50 

Mar-23 1.25 0.10 3.20 2.10 3.50 2.30 4.10 2.70 4.00 2.50 

 1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates apply to 
authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term borrowing and 

associated capital spending. 

7.2 Graph 1 along with the graph and tables in Appendix B show, for a selection of 
maturity periods, the high and low points for PWLB certainty maturity rates, the 
average rates, spreads and individual rates at the start and the end of the financial 
year. The borrowing rates shown in table 3 are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate 
(standard new loan rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most 
authorities since 2012. 

Graph 1: PWLB borrowing rates 2020-21 

 

 

Page 60



Movement in PWLB certainty rates April to September 2020 

7.3 PWLB rates are offered at a fixed margin above the Government’s cost of 
borrowing, as measured by gilt (UK Government bonds) yields. The main influences 
on gilt yields are the bank rate, inflation expectations and movements in US 
treasury yields. 

7.4 After falling to historically low rates during 2019-20, PWLB rates across the yield 
curve varied within a relatively narrow range between April and July 2020, before 
rising during August and early September at the longer end of the yield curve.  

7.5 That increase came in two periods. The first, in the second week of August, was on 
the back of hopes for fresh US stimulus. This saw investors switch monies out of 
government bonds and into equities. The second shift, higher at the longer end of 
the curve, came in the latter stages of the month as investors reacted to the 
announcement of the tweak to the Federal Reserve’s inflation target. Despite moves 
further out in the yield curve, rates at the short end remained anchored on the basis 
of no fundamental change to the interest rate outlook. 

7.6 At 30 September 2020, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at 
2.4% (30.9.19: 1.67%), up marginally from 2.34% at the beginning of the financial 
year. The 25-year rate ended the period at 2.56%. This compares with a rate of 
2.6% at the beginning of April 2019 and 1.83% at the end of September 2019. The 
forecast rates for September included in the TMSS for 50 and 25-year maturities 
were 3.3% and 3.4% respectively. 

 Movement in PWLB certainty rates October to March  

7.7 The second half of 2020-21 saw a further upward spike in rates in mid-November. 
This was followed by a sharp rise in gilt yields and PWLB rates in quarter 4 of 2020-
21 driven by expectations of economic recovery boosted by the rapid progress of 
the UK’s vaccination programme. 

7.8 At 31 March 2021, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate (gilt plus 80bp) for new loans 
stood at 1.99% (fixed) compared to 2.40% at 30 September (inclusive of the 180bp 
margin above gilts). The 25-year rate ended the year at 2.19% compared to 2.56% 
at 30 September 2020. This compares with updated forecasts included in the Mid-
year report for 50 and 25-year maturities at the end of 2020-21 of 2.3% and 2.5% 
respectively. 

 Decrease in the margin over gilt yields – 26 November  

7.9 In addition to the impact of movements in gilt prices, PWLB rates also remain 
subject to ad-hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to change (up or down) the margin 
over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates. This is illustrated by the 100 basis point 
increase implemented by the Treasury on 9 October 2019, the partial reversal of 
this increase for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020 and the 100bp 
reduction implemented on 26 November 2020 alongside new PWLB lending terms. 
Following the reduction in margin implemented in November 2020, Standard Rate 
loans are now priced at gilt plus 100 basis points and Certainty Rate loans at gilt 
plus 80 basis points. 

Page 61



7.10 The revised PWLB lending terms introduced in November 2020, alongside the 
100bp reduction in Standard and Certainty rates, followed the conclusion of HM 
Treasury’s consultation on future PWLB lending terms that took place between 
March and July 2020. The aim of that consultation was to develop a proportionate 
and equitable way to prevent local authorities from using PWLB loans to buy 
commercial assets primarily for yield, without impeding their ability to pursue service 
delivery, housing, and regeneration under the prudential regime. 

7.11 The changes made to the PWLB’s lending terms in November 2020, mean the 
PWLB will no longer lend to local authorities that plan to buy commercial assets 
primarily for yield. This restriction applies on a ‘whole plan’ basis meaning the 
PWLB will not lend to an authority that includes, anywhere in its capital plans, the 
acquisition of investment assets primarily for yield, regardless of whether the 
transaction would notionally be financed from a source other than the PWLB. The 
PWLB’s guidance for applicants also makes it clear that local authorities must not 
pursue a strategy of using private borrowing or internal borrowing to support 
investment in an asset that the PWLB would not support and then refinancing or 
externalising this with PWLB loans. 

7.12 During the second half of 2019, there was much speculation that bond markets 
were in a bubble that was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very 
low levels. The context for this was heightened expectations that the US could have 
been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations 
of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact 
of the trade war between the US and China, together with inflation generally at low 
levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these 
conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.   

7.13 While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the 
last 30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central 
rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This 
means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major 
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the 
gradual lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial 
markets over the last 30 years.   

7.14 Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this resulted in many bond yields up to 
10 years turning negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there was, at times, an 
inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10-year yields fell below shorter-term 
yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.   

7.15 Gilt yields had therefore, already been on a generally falling trend up until the 
coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields initially 
spiked upwards in March, yields fell sharply in response to major western central 
banks taking rapid policy action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets 
during March and starting massive quantitative easing driven purchases of 
government bonds. These actions also acted to put downward pressure on 
government bond yields at a time when there was a huge and quick expansion of 
government expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such 
unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields 
to rise sharply.   

Page 62



7.16 At the start of 2021, all gilt yields from 1 to 8 years were negative: however, since 
then all gilt yields have become positive and have risen sharply, especially in 
medium and longer-term periods. The main driver of these increases has been 
investors becoming progressively more concerned at the way that inflation has risen 
sharply in major western economies during 2021, and expectations of further 
increases in inflation. There is also significant investor concern that the US Federal 
Reserve (the Fed.) is taking a too laid-back view that this inflation is purely 
transitory and that it will subside, without the need for the Fed. to take any action to 
tighten monetary policy. This could mean that rates will need to rise faster and 
sharper if inflation were to get out of control.   

7.17 Looking ahead, current forecasts anticipate little upward movement in PWLB rates 
over the next three years as the Bank of England is not expected to raise the Bank 
Rate above 0.25% during this period, as inflation is not expected to be sustainably 
over 2%.   

8.0 Borrowing Strategy for 2020-21 

8.1 In recent years, the Council has maintained an under-borrowed position. This 
means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR) 
has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising cash supporting the Council’s 
reserves and favourable in-year cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the 
need to borrow up to the level of the CFR.  

8.2 This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury risk 
by postponing borrowing and reducing its external investment balances. The policy 
of avoiding new borrowing by utilising cash balances, has served the Council well 
and is considered prudent in light of low investment returns and the ongoing 
counterparty risk considerations which have endured since the 2008 financial crisis.  

8.3 Low investment returns (see section 10) also means there remains a cost of carry on 
any new long-term borrowing not immediately used to finance capital expenditure as 
this would have caused a temporary increase in cash balances and would have 
incurred a revenue cost reflecting the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and 
investment returns. 

8.4 The borrowing strategy adopted in 2020-21 was for the Council to continue with this 
policy during to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of its interest rate exposures. In managing interest rate exposures, 
interest rates were closely monitored throughout the year and a pragmatic strategy 
adopted based upon the following principles: 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing would have been 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term 
borrowing would have been considered. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short term rates than expected (e.g. due to an acceleration in the 
start date and the rate of increase in central rates in the US and UK; a 
greater tha expected increase in global economic activity or a sudden 

Page 63



increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position would have been re-
appraised with the most likely action being to draw down fixed rate funding 
whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in the next few 
years. 

9.0 Borrowing Activity in 2020-21 

9.1 A summary of borrowing transactions undertaken during 2020-21 is included in the 
following table (table 4). 

Table 4: External borrowing activity during 2020-21  

  
01-Apr-20 

New 
Borrowing 

Borrowing 
Repaid 

Other 
Movements 

31-Mar-21 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Long-term          

PWLB – fixed rates 17,247 0 (684) 0 16,563 

Short-term        

Local Bonds 31 0 0 0 31 

Trust Funds 54 0 0 0 54 

  17,332 0 (684) 0 16,648 

 
9.2 The Council did not undertake any new borrowing, premature repayments or 

rescheduling of existing borrowing during 2020-21. Scheduled loan repayments of 
£684k were made during the year to March 2021. 

9.3 The Council’s 2020-21 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2020-21 of up to £6.61m to fund the 
Council’s capital programme. It also assumed additional borrowing of up to £4.89m 
in 2019-20. Actual new borrowing in 2019-20 was £2.5m.  

9.4 As a result of the deferment of borrowing in 2019-20 and the changes included in 
the Council’s revised 2020-21 capital programme, including the re-profiling of 
expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, anticipated (maximum) 
external borrowing requirements in 2020-21 were subsequently revised to £7.23m. 
This figure included £1.4m of borrowing in respect of unfinanced capital expenditure 
(i.e. amounts funded from borrowing) incurred in prior years. A further £221k of 
planned capital expenditure was budgeted to be met from internal borrowing.  

9.5 The actual amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing in 2020-21 was 
£234k compared to the revised budget of £6,051k. A variance of £5,817k. Of this 
£5,726k has been carried forward to 2021-22. The in-year expenditure of £234k 
was met from internal borrowing.  

9.6 As noted above, the Council’s policy is to use internal borrowing to avoid or 
postpone the timing of any new borrowing, in circumstances where it considered 
prudent to do so, having regard to its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of interest rate exposures. 

Page 64



9.7 In 2020-21, the reported underspend against the capital budget, coupled with the 
timing of capital expenditure during the year and other positive in year cash flows, 
enabled the Council to continue with this policy. This has allowed the Council to 
meet its liquidity requirements by utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances 
and favourable in year cash flows without the need to borrow externally up to the 
level of the CFR.   

9.8 As a consequence, during the year to March 2021, the Council has maintained an 
under borrowed position. At 31 March 2021, the level of under borrowing was 
£4.49m, compared to £4.80m at 31 March 2020. Further information regarding the 
movement in the CFR and the level of under borrowing is set out in Appendix A 
(Prudential indicators). 

9.9 At 31 March 2021, the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed rate:  

 maturity loans totalling  £8.0m (31 March 2020: £8.0m) 

 annuity loans of £1.460m (31 March 2020: £1.547m) 

 EIP loans of £7.103m (31 March 2020: £7.700m). 

9.10 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio 
range from 1.95% to 9.5%. At 31 March 2021, the weighted average rate of interest 
payable on the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio stood at 5.05% (31 March 2020: 
4.97%). Whilst this remains above current rates applicable to new PWLB borrowing 
(see Appendix B) - reflecting the historic nature of the Council’s PWLB loans 
portfolio - the differential between new and premature redemption rates meant 
rescheduling remained unviable throughout 2020-21.  

9.11 At 31 March 2021, the ‘fair value’ of the Council’s PWLB loans portfolio, measured 
using PWLB premature repayment rates, was £31.171m (31 March 2020: 
£35.832m).The difference of £14.608m (31 March 2020 £18.585m) – between this 
and the principal outstanding of £16.563m (31 March 2020: £17.247m) reflects:  

i. the premium that would be payable to repay those loans prematurely of 
£14.404m (2019: £18.381m), plus  

ii. interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of £0.204m 
(2020: £0.204m).  

9.12  At 31 March 2021, the weighted average life of the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio 
was approximately 21 years (31 March 2020: 21 years). The weighted average time 
to maturity of these loans was 25 years (31 March 2020: 25 years). 

10.0 Investment Rates in 2020-21 

10.1 Investment returns which had been exceptionally low during 2019-20 fell further 
during 2020-21 to near zero and in some cases into negative territory. 

10.2 Forecasts included in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020-21 
was for the Bank Rate to start the year at 0.75%, rising to 1.00% by March 2020 
and to 1.25% by the end of the forecast period (2022-23). However, the emergence 
of the Covid-19 pandemic invalidated these forecasts. Revised forecasts included in 

Page 65



the Mid-year update included no changes in the Bank Rate over the forecast period. 
The updated forecast, issued in August, took into account the Bank of England’s:  

 decision in March 2020 to cut the bank rate, first to 0.25% and then to 
0.10% in order to counter the hugely negative impact of the national 
lockdown on the economy 

 August Monetary Policy Report and the decisions and forward guidance 
issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its meeting on 4 
August.   

10.3 As noted above, in addition to the decision to cut Bank Rate and expand its 
quantitative easing programme, the Bank of England and the Government also 
introduced new programmes to supply the banking system and the economy with 
massive amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses 
to survive the lockdown. The Government also supplied huge amounts of finance to 
local authorities to pass on to businesses. This meant that for most of the year there 
was much more liquidity in financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with 
the consequent effect that investment earnings rates plummeted. 

10.4 The cuts made to the Bank Rate on 11 March and 19 March 2020, saw sharp falls 
in rates at the short end of the yield curve with the 7-day rate falling by around 
44bps during this period. At 31 March 2020, the 7-day LIBID rate stood at 0.006% 
compared to 0.57% at 1 April 2019 and 0.46% at 10 March 2020. Since then 
overnight and 7-day LIBID rates remained broadly stable during the first six months 
of 2020-21.  

10.5 Between April and September 2020, the overnight LIBID rate fluctuated between a 
high of -0.06% and a low of -0.08%. The average overnight rate for the six months 
to September 2020 was -0.07%. This compares with an average of 0.55% for the 
corresponding period last year and an average for the financial year 2019-20 of 
0.52%. 

10.6 Over the same period, the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.005% and a 
low of -0.08%. The average 7-day rate for the six months to September was -
0.06%. This compares with an average of 0.57% for the corresponding period last 
year and 0.53% for the year to March 2020.  

10.7 In contrast, investment rates for terms of three months and longer were on a 
declining trend through most of the first six months of 2020-21 with falls of between 
51 and 68 basis points recorded across the curve between April and September. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



Graph 2: Investment Rates in 2020-21 

 

10.8 Shorter-term investment rates remained broadly stable over the second half of 
2020-21. Between October 2020 and March 2021, the 7-day rate fluctuated 
between a high of -0.07% and a low of -0.10% and the overnight rate between a 
high of -0.07% and a low of -0.09%.  

10.9  The average 7-day rate for this period was -0.09% and the overnight rate average -
0.08%. The average 7-day LIBID rate for 2020-21 as a whole was -0.07% (2019-20: 
0.53%) and the overnight rate -0.08% (2019-20: 0.52%). The overnight rate closed 
the year at -0.09% (31 March 2020: -0.07%) and the 7-day rate at -0.08% (31 March 
2020: 0.01%). 

10.10 Investment rates for terms of three months and longer fell further during the second 
half of 2020-21, although the reductions of between four and eight basis points, 
meant this was at a much slower pace than experienced over the first half of the 
year. After reaching lows in late December/early January, modest increases in 
longer-term rates in the final quarter of 2020-21 saw rates close the year marginally 
(1 to 3 basis points) above those at the beginning of October.  

11.0  Investment strategy 

11.1 The Council’s investment policy is set having regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on 
Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG Investment Guidance’) (third edition) 
issued in February 2018 and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: 
Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (‘the Treasury Management 
Code’). The primary objectives of the Council’s treasury investment activity are to 
ensure:  

 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital sum 
invested from loss)  

Page 67



 second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained (i.e. ensuring funds 
invested are available to meet expenditure when needed).  

11.2 The policy for 2020-21 was set out in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
and Investment Strategy approved by Council on 4 March 2020. The contents of 
this policy include: 

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments may 
be placed, including the use of credit ratings and other sources of information 
to assess credit and counterparty risk   

 the types of investment instruments that may be used 

 limits on the amount that may be invested with any single institution or group 
of institutions  

 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently committed. 

11.3 In the current economic climate and in light of the Council’s forecast liquidity 
requirements, the investment strategy for 2020-21 considered it appropriate to keep 
investment terms short and to retain the current upper limit on investment maturities 
of 12 months on all new investments. 

11.4 Continued concerns over counterparty risks promoted a cautious approach, 
whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low counterparty risk 
considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to borrowing rates. 

12.0  Investment Outturn for 2020-21 

12.1 Investment activity during the year - excluding ‘policy investments’ falling outside of 
the Councils Treasury Management and Investment Strategies, is summarised in 
the following table: 

Table 5: Investment activity during 2020-21 

  
Credit 
Rating 

1 April 
2020 

Investments 
Other 

Movements 
31 March 

2021 Made Repaid 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Specified Investments  

Call Accounts   AA- 1,386 9,989 (11,375) 0 0 

Call Accounts   A+/A/A- 1,750 35,422 (29,552) 0 7,620 

Term Accounts (DMO) AA- 0 117,415 (117,415) 0 0 

Money Market Funds AAA 5,856 74,020 (72,615) 0 7,261 

Non Specified Investments 

Equity Shares Not rated 11 0 0 1 12 

    9,003 236,846 (230,957) 1 14,893 

12.2 Investment activity during the year complied with the Council’s approved treasury 
strategy and the Council had no liquidity difficulties. In keeping with MHCLG’s 
guidance on local authority investments, the Council maintained a sufficient level of 
liquidity through use of money market funds, call and fixed term deposits with HM 
Government’s Debt Management Office (DMO). All (specified) investments made 

Page 68



during 2020-21 had a maximum maturity not exceeding 365 days (from the date of 
acquisition).  

12.3 Over the course of 2020-21, the Council’s average short-term investment balance of 
internally managed funds was £24.7m (2019-20: £13.6m). These funds earned an 
average rate of return of approximately 0.07% (2019-20: 0.65%). This compares 
favourably with the Council’s benchmark return (the average 7- day LIBID rate) over 
the year of -0.07% (2019-20: 0.53%). The amount of interest and dividends earned 
on investments (long-term and short-term) listed in table 5 and credited to the 
general fund during 2020-21 was £17,448 (2019-20: £85,757). This compares to a 
revised budget for 2020-21 of £20,000. 

12.4 Underpinning the significant increase in average investment balances during 2020-
21 compared to 2019-20, were the cash flows associated with measures 
implemented by central government in response to Covid-19 pandemic. This 
included the upfront receipt of grant funding in respect of various financial support 
packages administered by the Authority on behalf of central government, as well as 
a number of other measures aimed at alleviating pressures on local authority cash 
flows during the pandemic. 

12.5 During 2020-21, the reductions in market yields on shorter-term investments 
contributed to a reduction in yields achieved on Money Market Funds (MMFs). Over 
the course of the year, investments in Money Market Funds accounted for around 
60% of investments placed, with yields achieved on those investments falling from 
between 0.21% and 0.40% at the beginning of the year to between 0% and 0.01% 
at 31 March 2021. The falls in market yields also saw a number of market 
operators, including the DMOs’ Debt Management Account Deposit Facility, offer nil 
or negative rates for very short-term maturities during 2020-21. However, where it 
was necessary for the Authority to place funds with the DMO, it was able to avoid 
negative rates through the considered management of investment maturities. 

 
 Credit Risk 

12.6 The Council’s prime policy objective of its investment activity is to ensure the 
security of principal sums invested. 

12.7 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on:  

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used  

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the financial 
standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty 

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on the 
Council’s list of approved counterparties.   

  

Page 69



12.8 Whilst published credit ratings remain the primary means of assessing the credit 
worthiness of counterparties, the Council continues to make use of other sources 
of information on credit risk before making investment decisions. This information 
includes:  

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating over the 
medium term)  

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or upgrading of 
the credit rating could be imminent)  

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms 

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market sentiment 
regarding the credit risk associated with a particular institution and an early 
warning of potential creditworthiness problems which may only belatedly lead 
to actual changes in credit ratings). 

12.9 In accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy for 2020-21, all investments 
made during the year were:  

 restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds and call accounts) 
with counterparties holding a minimum long-term rating across all three of the 
main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or 
equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns)  

 for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations determined by 
reference to the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty and subject to a 
maximum maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition). 

12.10 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management Office 
(DMO), the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or group of 
institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4m. For funds placed with 
the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility, the current limit is £12m.  

12.11 During April 2020 and January 2021, the amount of funding paid to the Authority as 
part of central government’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic meant it was not 
possible to place those funds with institutions on the Council’s list of approved 
counterparties without breaching the approved counterparty limit with one or more 
of those institutions. In order to minimise the counterparty risks created by this 
situation, where the temporary investment of this additional funding could not be 
accommodated within agreed counterparty limits, all excess amounts were placed 
with HM. Treasury’s Debt Management Office (DMO).  

12.12 This action required temporary suspension of the Authority’s £12m counterparty 
limit on deposits placed with the DMO during the periods:  

 1 to 7 April 2021, coinciding with the receipt of £42m in respect of the Small 
Business Fund, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund and the Local 
Authority Discretionary Grant Fund, and  

 15 to 24 January 2021, following the receipt of £17.9m related to the 
Business support package for January lockdown and LRSG schemes. 

Page 70



13.0  Prudential Indicators  

13.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep under 
review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans and other 
forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council must follow in 
setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set out in the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, to which the Council is 
required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act. 

13.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying the sector guidance, include a number of other key 
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include: 

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the expectations 
of the most likely maximum external debt for the year  

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) - the undeylying need to borrow for capital 
purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years 

 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of 
more than 365 days   

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings. 

13.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under the 
Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary and other indicators and limits 
required by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in 
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2020-21 and approved by members on 4 March 2020.  

13.4 Updated indicators for 2020-21 were included in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2021-22 approved by 
members on 3 March 2021. 

13.5 During 2020-21, the Council complied with the limits established by the Prudential 
and Treasury indicators included in its Treasury Management & Investment 
Strategy for 2020-21. Further information relating to the Prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2020-21 are set out in Appendix A. 

14.0  Delivery arrangements 

14.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.  

15.0 Implications and Impact 

 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

15.1 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

Page 71



 Finance/Resource implications 

15.2 Financial issues and implications are included within the main body of this report. 

 Legal and governance implications  

15.3 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities require the Council to report regularly 
on specific aspects of its treasury management activities.  

 Risk analysis 

15.4 The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Risk implications associated with the Authority’s 
treasury activity is considered in the main body of the report. 

 Increasing satisfaction and service 

15.5 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Equality impacts 

15.6 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health and Safety impacts 

15.7 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

15.8 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

15.9 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Other significant implications 

15.10 There are no other significant implications arising from report. 

  

Page 72



Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  Title of appendix 

A Prudential and treasury indicators 

B Interest rate movements 

C GDP and inflation 

 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy 2020-21 

Council Agenda 4 March 2020 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2020-21 Council Agenda 4 March 2020 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Barry Lennox 
Financial Services Manager 
Telephone no: 01900-702586 
email: mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

  

Page 73

https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/s124448/TMSS%20Investment%20Strategy%20MRP%20policy%202020-2021cover%20report%201802202%20Audit%20Committee.pdf
https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/s124448/TMSS%20Investment%20Strategy%20MRP%20policy%202020-2021cover%20report%201802202%20Audit%20Committee.pdf
mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk


Appendix A 
 
 Prudential and treasury indicators 

1.0  Indicators required by the Prudential Code   

1.1  The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the affordability, 
prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by 
setting estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of prudential 
indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury management practices are 
in accordance with good practice.  

1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the 
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are designed to 
support and record local decision-making. They are not designed to be comparative 
performance indicators and should not be used for this purpose.  

1.3 The Council’s performance compared to the limits and estimates set out in the 
Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 2020-21 Mid-
year Treasury Update Report are summarised in the following sections. 

2.0 Actual capital expenditure 

2.1 Table A shows the actual capital expenditure incurred during 2020-21.  

Table A: Actual capital expenditure 

  

2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 
Approved 

2020/21 

Revised 
estimate1  

2020/21 

Actual2 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Capital Expenditure - Capital Outturn  2,090 13,295 11,793 3,073 

Capital Expenditure - Other2 0 0 0 (98) 

General Fund Capital Expenditure  2,090 13,295 11,793 2,975 

Financed by:         

Capital receipts 19 572 647 318 

Capital grants & contributions  1,744 5,880 5,001 2,350 

Revenue  (190)  9 94 179 

Total expenditure financed in year 1,573 6,461 5,742 2,847 

Unfinanced capital expenditure:      

Supported borrowing (11)  0 0 0 

Unsupported borrowing  528 6,787 6,051 128 

Leasing 0 47 0 0 

Total financed & unfinanced  2,090 13,295 11,793 2,975 

1  2020-21 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in March 2021);  
2  Other capital expenditure comprises items monitored via the revenue budget, write-off of previously capitalised 

costs and accounting adjustments required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

Page 74



2.2 Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 and 
includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with proper 
practices. It also includes any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of 
the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 
(as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued under section 16(2) of 
the 2003 Act.  

2.3 The variance of £8.818m between the capital outturn position (£2.975m) and the 
2020-21 revised estimate (£11.793m) comprises: 

 budget carry forwards of £8.531m 

 net variance (underspend) of £189k. 

 the write-off to revenue of previously capitalised costs associated with 
cancelled capital schemes and the reversal of associated financing 
transactions - £265k, less  

 capital expenditure monitored through the revenue budget and other 
adjustments of £167k. 

2.4 Approved budget carry forwards of £8.531m reflect changes to the expected timing 
of expenditure on individual schemes (rather than the overall amount of 
expenditure) and subsequent budget revisions to reflect the re-profiling of 
expenditure across the 2020-21 and 2021-22 financial years. Further details relating 
to the capital outturn position for 2020-21 are set out in the Capital Outturn report 
considered by the Council’s Executive on 21 July 2021. The net variance against 
the capital budget after accounting for budget carry-forwards was £189k. 

3.0 Actual Capital Financing Requirement  

3.1  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s underlying 
need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost of capital 
expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants, 
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). It does not necessarily 
correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position, which is determined in 
accordance with an authority’s treasury management strategy and practices. Table 
B shows the Council’s actual capital financing requirement at 31 March 2021. 

  

Page 75



Table B: Capital financing requirement 

 2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 
Approved 
estimate 

2020/21 
 Revised 
estimate1 

2020/21 

Actual 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

CFR at 1 April 22,741 22,897 22,136 22,136 

CFR IFRS 16 - Leases - 6,816 0 0 

CFR at 1 April -total 22,741 29,713 22,136 22,136 

CFR at 31 March 22,136 35,159 26,953 21,136 

Movement in CFR (605) 5,446 4,817 (1,000) 

Movement represented by:     

Unfinanced expenditure    517 6,834 6,051 234 

Adjustment to unfinanced expenditure2 0 0  (100) (106) 

Less MRP (1,122) (1,388) (1,134) (1,128) 

Less Voluntary set aside  0  0   0 0  

Movement in CFR (605) 5,446 4,817 (1,000) 
1 Updated to reflect 2020-21 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in 

March 2021; 2 Adjustment in respect of prior year expenditure following the decision to 
discontinue the Reedlands Road scheme 

4.0 Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR) 

4.1 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of prudence is 
that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose. In order to 
ensure this is the case, gross external debt should not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next 
two financial years.  

4.2 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years 
but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. Gross debt 
refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit arrangements). 
Table C compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR.  

  
  

Page 76



 Table C: Gross debt & the CFR 

  

2019/20 
Actual at 
31.3.20 

2020/21 
Approved 

(max) 

2020/21 

Revised 
estimate1 

2020/21 
Actual at 
31.3.21 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

PWLB 17,247 25,475 23,792 16,563 

Other borrowing  85 85 85 85 

Lease Liabilities 0 6,647 0 0 

Total debt  17,332 32,207 23,877 16,648 

CFR at 1 April  22,741 29,713 22,136 22,136 

Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure 517 6,834 5,951 128 

Less: MRP (1,122) (1,388) (1,134) (1,128) 

CFR at 31 March 22,136 35,159 26,953 21,136 

(Under)/Over borrowing  (4,804)  (2,952) (3,076) (4,488) 

1 Position at 31 March 2021 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s loan portfolio at 
30.9.20 and new borrowing to fund the revised capital budget for 2020-21 

4.3 At 31 March 2021, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital financing 
requirement by £4.488m. This compares with an under-borrowed position at 31 
March 2020 of £4.804m. The decrease of £0.316m during 2020-21 is represented 
by:  

 a reduction in the CFR of £1.128m, reflecting amounts set aside from 
revenue in 2020-21 (the minimum revenue provision) to repay debt, plus 

 a reduction to the CFR of £106k in respect of the write-off to revenue of 
previously capital expenditure on capital schemes cancelled during the year 
and the subsequent unwinding of previous financing transactions, less  

 an increase in the CFR of £0.234m as a result of unfinanced capital 
expenditure incurred during the year, and  

 scheduled repayments of external (PWLB) borrowing of £0.684m. 

5.0 Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable Limit). It 
imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt (excluding 
investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from other long-term 
liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the Affordable Borrowing 
Limit is prohibited by section 2(1) (a) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

5.2 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. The 
Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the Operational 
Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or unforeseen cash 
movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-
term liabilities. 

Page 77



Table D: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

  

2020/21 
Approved 

2020/21 
Revised 

31.3.21 
Actual 

2020/21 
Actual (max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 31,000 30,000 16,648 17,332 

Other long-term liabilities1 7,500 0 0 0 

Total 38,500 30,000 16,648 17,332 

1 element of the Authorised Limit for 2020-21 relating to other long-term liabilities removed to 

reflect the decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC in December 2020 to defer implementation of IFRS 
16 - Leases until the 2022-23 financial year.  

6.0 Operational boundary for external debt 

6.1 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external debt 
is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum external debt 
of a local authority according to probable events (that is, the most likely (prudent) 
but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum level of external 
debt projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary links directly to the 
Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing 
requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all purposes, but without 
the additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator 
separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table E: Operational boundary for external debt 

  

2020/21 
Approved 

2020/21 
Revised 

31.3.21 
Actual 

2020/21 
Actual (max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 29,500 28,000 16,648 17,332 

Other long-term liabilities1 7,000 0 0 0 

Total 36,500 28,000 16,648 17,332 

1 element of the Operational Boundary for 2020-21 relating to other long-term liabilities removed 

to reflect the decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC in December 2020 to defer implementation of 
IFRS 16 - Leases until the 2022-23 financial year.  

7.0 Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

7.1 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment income).  

Table F: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

  

2019/20  
Actual  

2020/21 Approved 
Estimate 

2020/21  
Revised Estimate 

2020/21 
Actual  

% % % % 

Ratio  12.7 16.9 11.3 8.0 

 

 

Page 78



7.2 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of: 

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing 

 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities 

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to the 
amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers   

 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy investments 

falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies)  

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives 

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions 

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be met 
from government grants and local taxpayers. 

7.3 Actual figures for Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-specific grant income and 
expenditure’.  

7.4 In 2020-21, the total Net Revenue Stream used in the calculation of this indicator 
was significantly impacted by:  

 additional Section 31 (s31) grants received by the Authority to compensate 
for the loss of business rates income generated by the introduction of a 
number of additional and extended business rates reliefs, and  

 the receipt of a number of other grants provided by central government in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic (for example, Covid-19 emergency 
funding and amounts received under the sales fees and charges 
compensation scheme).  

7.5 The Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream, excluding the impact of 
Covid-19 emergency funding, grant receivable under the sales fees and charges 
compensation scheme, and additional s31 grant receivable in connection with 
additional and extended business rates reliefs and the Local Tax Income Guarantee 
scheme is 12.9%. 

8.0 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code  

8.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code, there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code and 
accompanying sector guidance. These are: 

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing 

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of more than 
over 365 days. 

8.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and refinancing 
risks.   

  

Page 79



9.0 Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing 

9.1 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of fixed rate debt falling due for refinancing, and is designed to 
facilitate reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or 
high interest rates. 

9.2 It is calculated as the amount of borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage 
of total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the 
earliest date on which the lender can require payment.  

 Table G: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period 

  

At 31.3.20 
Actual 

Lower limit 
2020/21  

Upper limit 
2020/21  

At 31.3.21 
Actual 

% % % % 

Under 12 months 4.44 0 30 4.67 

12 months to 2 years 3.99 0 20 4.21 

2 years to 5 years 12.29 0 20 12.98 

5 years to 10 years 15.39 0 30 13.86 

10 years to 20 years  15.42 0 40 15.27 

20 years to 30 years  2.31 0 40 0.96 

30 years to 40 years  46.16 0 80 48.05 

40 years to 45 years 0 0 80 0 

 

10.0 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 365 days  

10.1 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 days is 
required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for the maturing 
of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums invested for periods 
longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss 
that might arise as a result of its having to seek early repayment or redemption of 
principal sums invested. 

Table H: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 days  

  

2019/20 
Actual 

2020/21 
Approved 

2020/21 
Revised 

2020/21  
Actual1 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Principal sums invested > 365 days 11 20 20 12 

1 Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 31 

March 2021 is £1k  

 

 

Page 80



Appendix B 

 

  
 

 PWLB certainty rates 2020-21 

 1-Years 

% 

4½- 5 Years 

% 

9½-10 Years 

% 

24½- 25 
Years 

% 

49½ - 50 
Years 

% 

At 1.4.20 1.89 1.92 2.10 2.10 0.54 

At 31.3.21 0.79 1.18 1.71 2.19 1.99 

Low 0.65 0.72 1.00 1.53 1.32 

Date  04/01/21 11/12/20 11/12/20 11/12/20 11/12/20 

High 1.94 1.99 2.28 2.86 2.71 

Date  08/04/20 08/04/20 11/11/20 11/11/20 11/11/20 

Average 1.43 1.50 1.81 2.33 2.14 

Spread 1.29 1.27 1.28 1.33 1.39 

 

Money market investment rates 2020-21 (LIBID) 

  
Bank 
Rate 

7 day 1month 3 month 6 month 1 year 

At 1.4.20 0.10 0.00 0.11 0.45 0.59 0.71 

At 31.3.21 0.10 -0.08 -0.08 -0.04 -0.01 0.04 

High 0.10 0.00 0.14 0.56 0.62 0.77 

High date  01/04/20 02/04/20 20/04/20 08/04/20 14/04/20 21/04/20 

Low  0.10 -0.10 -0.11 -0.10 -0.10 -0.05 

Low date 01/04/20 31/12/20 29/12/20 23/12/20 21/12/20 11/01/21 

Average  0.10 -0.07 -0.05 0.01 0.07 0.17 

Spread 0.00 0.10 0.25 0.66 0.73 0.83 

Page 81



Appendix C 

UK, US and EZ GDP growth  

 

 

Inflation UK, US, Germany and France 

 

 

 

Page 82



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 22 September 2021 

 

Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 

 
 
Portfolio holder   Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 

Report from Nik Hardy, Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, 
Performance and Economic Strategy) 

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  Yes 
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

1.1 There is a statutory requirement for Councils to prepare a pay policy statement 
during each financial year. The specific requirements of the statement are laid out in 
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. A key element of the statement is to detail 
levels of the remuneration made to chief officers of the Council.  
 

1.2 The pay policy statement is usually reported to Full Council in March each year. Full 
Council must approve any changes made to the statement during the year.  

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Members approve the pay policy statement attached to this report as Appendix 
A 

 
2.2 That the Constitution be amended as set out at Appendix B, to include a delegation 

to the Head of Paid Service in respect of the appointment of Deputy Chief Officers. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 A pay policy statement for a financial year must set out the authority's policies for 

the financial year relating to:  

 the remuneration of its chief officers, 

 the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, and 

 the relationship between— 
o the remuneration of its chief officers, and 
o the remuneration of its employees who are not chief officers 

 
3.2  The statement must also include: 

Page 83

Agenda Item 12



 the definition of “lowest-paid employees” adopted by the authority for the 
purposes of the statement, and 

 the authority's reasons for adopting that definition 

 the authority's policies relating to 
o the level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer 
o remuneration of chief officers on recruitment 
o increases and additions to remuneration for each chief officer 
o the use of performance-related pay for chief officers 
o the use of bonuses for chief officers 
o the approach to the payment of chief officers on their ceasing to hold 

office under or to be employed by the authority and  
o the publication of and access to information relating to remuneration 

of chief officers. 
 

3.3 The Chief Executive (as the Head of Paid Service) is responsible for ensuring the 
provisions set out in this statement are consistently applied throughout the 
Council.   

4.0  Content (to include alternative options considered) 

 
4.1 The pay policy statement as attached at Appendix A, puts in place a number of 

changes to the corporate structure that have been proposed as the Council moves 
towards a new Target Operating Model. As part of this process a job family 
structure has been introduced. 

 
4.2 Job families will enable the Council to access the right skills at the right time. It will 

create additional flexibility within the structure, to enable staff to take on different 
tasks or to move between services. Job families will allow greater 
interchangeability amongst roles, allowing the Council to improve service delivery. 

 
4.3 The Chief Officer structure approved by Council in December 2020 removed the 

Corporate Director post from the Council’s staffing structure. As a consequence all 
Chief Officers report directly to the Chief Executive. Managers who report to Chief 
Officers will therefore, in accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989, be classed as Deputy Chief Officers.  

 
4.4 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Regulations) 2001 allow 

authorities to delegate to the Head of Paid Service the appointment of Deputy 
Chief Officers.  

 
4.5 Members may choose to approve, amend or reject the pay policy statement, as 

attached to this report as Appendix A, and the amendment to the constitution 
(Appendix B).  

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 Any changes arising from this report will enacted and delivered by officers.  

Page 84



6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

 The job family structure will support delivery the Council Strategy by ensuring 
resources can be focussed in the right service areas when they are required most.  

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. The job families 
will overlay to our existing NJC spinal column points. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

The new pay policy 
does not attract 
high quality 
candidates 

Does not lead to 
delivering improved 
services and Council 
plan outcomes 

Market testing 2x4 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

 The new Job Families approach will support delivery of the Council Strategy by 
ensuring the Council has the right staff resource, with the right strengths and skills 
to deliver the roles required. 

6.6 Equality impacts 

 Equality impacts have been considered and there are no direct implications arising 
from this report.  

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

Health and safety impacts have been considered and there are no direct 
implications arising from this report.  

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts have been considered and there 
are no direct implications arising from this report. 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

 Environmental and sustainability impacts have been considered and there are no 
direct implications arising from this report. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 There are no other significant implications arising directly from this report. 
 

Page 85



Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

A Pay Policy Statement 

B Amendment to Constitution – 8.7 appointment of other 
Officers 

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Structure Charts Attached 

Job Families Attached 

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Nik Hardy 
Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, Performance and Economic Strategy) 
Nik.hardy@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 702778 

Page 86



 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Pay Policy Statement – 2021/2022 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE  
 
Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power to 
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit”. This 
Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the Council’s approach to pay policy in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.   

 
The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying; 
 

 the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined; 

 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, as 
defined by the relevant legislation; 

 the Chief Executive (as the Head of Paid Service) is responsible for ensuring the 
provisions set out in this statement are applied consistently throughout the Council 
and recommending any amendments to the Council. 
 

Once approved by the Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect and 
will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy for the next financial 
year being approved by 31st March each year.  

 
The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data Transparency 2015 
places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of publication of pay details which 
are included in the document.  The Code also requires the publication of Trade Union 
Facility Time and the annual publication of organisation structure charts which are 
contained in Appendix 1.  
 

2. OTHER LEGISLATION RELEVANT TO PAY AND REMUNERATION  
 
In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will comply 
with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation such as the Equality 
Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Earnings) Regulations 2006.   

 
The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all 
pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job evaluation 
mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of posts in grades according to 
the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.  

 
3. PAY AND GRADING STRUCTURE  

  
The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of salary points) 
as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the salaries of its employees 
(published on the intranet). The actual salary levels for each post other than Chief 

Page 87



 

Officers are determined by reference to the Council’s job evaluation scheme. This is a 
national scheme. 
 
In addition to the nationally negotiated pay spine, the Council uses a 'job families' 
approach. This involves allocating similar jobs into logical categories, or 'families'. This 
grouping of posts into families allows for a fair and consistent approach to job profiles 
right across the council. 

The council's job family framework has the following 7 families:  

 Operatives 

 Business Support 

 Senior Business Support 

 Specialists 

 Managers/Senior Specialists 

 Senior Manager/Strategic Advisor Tier 1 

 Senior Manager/Strategic Advisor Tier 2 

All council jobs covered by the NJC terms and conditions are allocated to a level within a 
job family following a job evaluation process.  

 
It should be noted that the National Joint Council (NJC) pay spinal column points will be 
revised with effect from the date of any updated Agreement following a National Pay 
Bargaining process. Should there be any implications for the Council’s existing grading 
structure as a consequence of the Agreement any necessary revisions will be made and 
any significant issues will be reported as appropriate. 

 
All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated 
rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining. 
 
In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any posts which 
fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in 
respect of the use of public expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain 
employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to 
the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services 
are required.   
 
New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay scale for the 
grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. Where 
the appointment salary is above the minimum point of the pay scale this will be within the 
discretion of the appointing officer applies under the Recruitment and Selection Policy. 
 
From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in the 
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills 
and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such is 
objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market 
comparators, using data sources available from within the local government sector and 
outside, as appropriate, in accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Policy. 
 

Page 88



 

Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in accordance 
with the Market Factor Supplement Procedure and the Acting up and Honoraria 
Procedure. 

 
All employees are covered by the National Joint Council Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service except for Chief Officers who are covered by a separate National 
Joint Council Agreement for Chief Officers of Local Authorities. 
 

 
4. CHIEF OFFICER REMUNERATION  
 

 Salary levels for Chief Officers were set by Council after consideration of an independent 
review which was undertaken externally by North West Employers Organisation (NWEO) 
in 2012 and in September 2020 by our Human Resources Team in conjunction with other 
neighbouring authorities. In relation to the Programme Director roles, we looked at similar 
roles in the North West region as a number have been advertised recently.  
 

 The determination of any new salary structure is undertaken in accordance with the 
 guidance produced by the Joint Negotiating Committees for Chief Executives and Chief 
 Officers  

 
There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s general 
employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers are dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies.  

 
Details of the Chief Officer remuneration are included below: 

 

Job Title Tier  Salary 

Chief Executive N/A £102,794.18, £105,921.89,  
£109,049. 81 

Chief Officers (including payment 
for statutory duties) 

COT1 £66,000, £68,000, £70,000.00 

Assistant Chief Executives COT2 £56,000, £58,000, £60,000.00 

Programme Directors COT3 £52,000, £54,000, £56,000.00 

 
 Chief Officers will be set performance objectives in each new appraisal year and will only 
 be able to move through the salary scales once objectives have been reached.  
 

RETURNING OFFICER  
 
The statutory designation of the Returning Officer currently sits with the Chief Executive. 
The Council is required to provide funding to the Returning Officer to discharge statutory 
functions relating to the administration of local government elections. The Returning 
Officer will make payments to those officers who undertake specific duties in relation to 
the elections in accordance with their role.  
 
 
ELECTORIAL REGISTRATION OFFICER  
 
The statutory designation of the Electoral Registration Officer currently sits with the Chief 
Executive. The Electoral Registration Officer is, by default, appointed the Acting 

Page 89



 

Returning Officer for UK Parliamentary elections. There is no separate payment for the 
role.  
 
DEPUTY ELECTORAL REGISTRATION OFFICERS  
 
The Chief Officer Place and Governance; and the Electoral Services Manager are both 
appointed by council to act as Deputy Electoral Registration Officers (DERO). There is no 
separate payment for the role. The Chief Officer Place and Governance will remain as a 
DERO. The new structure, due to be implemented 1st October 2021, will remove the 
Electoral Service Manager role. Following successful assimilation and/or recruitment to 
the roles, from the appropriate date, the roles of: Senior Manager – Elections and 
Democratic; Senior Specialist – Elections; will both be appointed as DEROs. 

 
MONITORING OFFICER   
 
The designation of the statutory role of Monitoring Officer currently sits with the Chief 
Officer: Place and Governance.  
 
SECTION 151 OFFICER   
 
The designation of the statutory role of Chief Finance Officer currently sits with the Chief 
Officer: Assets.  
 
DEPUTY STATUTORY OFFICER ROLES  
 
Deputy Monitoring Officer(s) and Deputy Section 151 Officer(s), will be appointed by the 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer respectively, these will be remunerated at 
£2,000 per annum. 
 
Further details are published in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
DEPUTISING ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
The Chief Executive will authorise one or more Chief Officers to deputise for him in the 
event of his absence, with appropriate remuneration depending on the circumstances of 
the deputising arrangement.  
 
DEPUTISING ARRANGEMENTS FOR CHIEF OFFICERS  
 
The Chief Officers may authorise a nominated Manager to deputise for him/her.   The 
nominated Manager will receive 10% of their substantive salary. 
 

5. RECRUITMENT OF CHIEF OFFICERS 
 
The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers is set out 
within section 8.5 of the Constitution.   

 
When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all provisions 
of relevant employment law and its own equal opportunities in Recruitment & Selection, 
and Change Management Policy.   

 

Page 90



 

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer 
will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the time of 
recruitment.   
 

6. RE-EMPLOYMENT/RE-ENGAGEMENT OF FORMER CHIEF OFFICERS 
 
The Council will not normally employ or engage under a contract of service Chief Officers 
who have previously received a redundancy or severance payment or who are in receipt 
of a pension under the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 
The Small Business, Enterprise & Employment Act 2015 makes provision requiring the 
repayment of some or all of any qualifying exit payment in qualifying circumstances. 

 
 
7. ADDITIONS TO SALARY OF CHIEF OFFICERS 

 
To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to 
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The Council’s arrangements 
for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. honoraria, ex gratia, ‘acting up’) relating 
to temporary additional duties are the same for all officers and are set out in the Acting 
up, Honorarium & Secondment Policy.  
 
The Senior Management team receive an on-call/standby fee, where required. The same 
rate is applicable for all employees who undertake on call/standby cover. 
 
Essential car user may be paid to the senior management team providing their role meets 
the criteria which is applicable to all employees. 
 
In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional pay as set out below; 

 
 
 

Post / Tier of post Payment details  

Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The designation of Returning Officer is made by Full Council 
and currently sits with the Chief Executive. 
 
The fees paid for Returning Officer services are as follows : 
 

In accordance with the national agreement the Returning 
Officer is entitled to receive and retain the personal fees 
arising from performing the duties of the RO, ARO, PARO, 
LRO, DRO or DARO and similar position which they perform 
subject to the payment of pension contributions thereon, 
where appropriate. 
 
In respect of Borough and Parish Council elections the fee 
is based on a calculation of £140 per Borough Ward and 
£140 per contested parish. 
 

 
 

Page 91



 

8. BONUS PAYMENTS 
 
The Council does not operate any variable pay or bonus schemes.  

 
9. PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS  

 
Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a contribution to the 
scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable remuneration due under the 
contract of employment of that employee.  The rate of contribution is set by Actuaries 
advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure 
the scheme is appropriately funded.  The table below sets out the contributions for 
2020/21 and the employee contribution rates are based on actual pensionable pay as 
detailed in the table below.  These rates are published each year.  
 
There are two sections in the scheme - the main section and the 50/50 section. 
 
The 50/50 section was brought in as part of the 2014 scheme. Employees can elect this 
option at any time, paying half normal contributions and building up half normal pension.  
 
 

 Contribution table 2021/2022 

Band Actual Pensionable Pay for an 
employment 

Contribution rate for that employment 

  Main Section 50/50 Section 

1 Up to £14,600 5.5% 2.75% 

2 £14,601 - £22,900 5.8% 2.9% 

3 £22,901 - £37,200 6.5% 3.25% 

4 £37,201 - £47,100 6.8% 3.4% 

5 £47,101 - £65,900 8.5% 4.25% 

6 £65,901 - £93,400 9.9% 4.95% 

7 £93,401 - £110,000 10.5% 5.25% 

8 £110,001 - £165,000 11.4% 5.7% 

9 £165,001 or more 12.5% 6.25% 

 
 
10.  SEVERANCE PAYMENTS – EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT IN THE 
 INTEREST OF EFFICIENCY TO THE SERVICE 
 
  There may be situations that are initiated by management to facilitate organisational 
 change where a post to be vacated would be replaced.  This would only be done in rare 
 circumstances and only if the Local Government “best value duty” can be applied.  
 
11.  REDUNDANCY PAYMENTS – EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT FOR THE 
 REASON OF REDUNDANCY  
 
 In the event of redundancy, i.e. where a post to be vacated would not be replaced, the 
 Council pays a redundancy payment equaling a weeks’ contractual pay for each year of 
 completed service up to a maximum of 30 weeks’ pay.   
 

Page 92



 

 Officers aged 55 and above will be eligible to retire in this circumstance and will have 
 access to their accrued pension benefit.  
 
  The Council does not augment additional pension membership.  
 
 
12.  EARLY RETIREMENT FOR THE REASON OF ILL HEALTH  
 
  To qualify, an officer must be confirmed by the Council’s medical adviser as being 

permanently unable of discharging the duties of their employment because of ill health or 
infirmity and have a reduced likelihood of obtaining gainful employment before age 65. 

 
13.  FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT  
 
  This is subject to agreement by the Council, providing an option for an officer to continue 

in employment post age 55 and to take some or all their Local Government pension that 
is due to them whilst continuing to work on reduced hours or reduced pay. The benefit for 
the Council is the ability to retain skills, knowledge and experience. 

 
14. PAY ANLYSIS  

 
Calculations in this document are taken using July 2021 payroll data. 
 
MEDIAN SALARY  
This calculation is based on the middle number in a set of data, when the data has been 
written in ascending size order, this includes all staff within the paid services of the 
Council, including the Chief Executive. The median salary using the July 2021 payroll 
was £27,041. This is based on a staffing number of 221 and total remuneration of 
£7,420,052.81 (based on all posts at their full-time equivalent rate.) 

 
LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES  
 
Using July 2021 payroll data, the lowest paid employee was on a salary of persons 
employed under a contract of £17,842 per annum, however the Council pays the Living 
Foundation Wage, which is currently £9.50 per hour. This means that the lowest paid 
employee is actually paid £18,327. 

 
Apprentices are appointed to Allerdale Borough Council on the Living Foundation Wage. 
 
PAY MULTIPLE  
 
The ‘pay multiple’ is the ratio between the highest paid taxable earnings (£109,049.81) 
and the median earnings figure (£27,041) of the whole Council’s workforce. The Councils 
highest paid employee is the Chief Executive. Therefore, the ‘pay multiple’, of the whole 
of the Council’s workforce is 1: 4 (as at July 2021) 
 
As part of the Council’s overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmark 
information as appropriate. In addition, upon the annual review of this statement, the 
Council will also monitor any changes in the relevant ‘pay multiples’ and benchmark 
against other comparable local authorities. 

Page 93



 

 
15. PUBLICATION  

 
Upon approval by the Full Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s 
website.  

 
16. ACCOUNTABLITY AND DECISION MAKING  

 
In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Officer Employment Panel and Council are responsible for decision making in relation to 
the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements in relation to 
Chief Officers of the Council. 

 
 
 
 

Andrew Seekings 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



Appendix B 
 

8.7  Appointment of Other Officers 

8.7.1  Appointment and dismissal of Officers below Chief Officer (other than assistants to 

political groups) is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his nominee and 

may not be undertaken by councillors.  

8.7.2  The Head of Paid Service, or his/her nominee, shall not make an offer of 

appointment in relation to any Deputy Chief Officer until: 

(i) The Head of Paid Service has notified the Proper Officer (but only if the Head of 

Paid Service and the Proper Officer are not the same person) of the name of the 

person to whom the Head of Paid Service wishes to make the offer and any other 

particulars which the Head of Paid Service considers are relevant to the 

appointment: 

(ii) The Proper Officer has notified every Member of the Executive of  

(a) The name of the person to whom the Head of Paid Service wishes to 

make the offer 

(b) Any other particulars relevant to the appointment 

(c) The period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be 

made by the Leader on behalf of the Executive to the Proper Officer; 

and 

(iii) Either 

(a) The Leader has, within the period specified, notified the Head of Paid 

Service that neither s/he not any other member of the Executive has 

any objections to the making of the offer; 

(b) The Proper Officer has notified the Head of Paid Service Officer (but 

only if the Head of Paid Service and the Proper Officer are not the same 

person) that no objection was received by him/her, within that period 

from the Leader; or 

(c) The Head of Paid Service is satisfied that any objection received from 

the Leader within that period is not material or well-founded.  

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96



Chief Executive Executive Support
Monitoring Officer

Section 151 Officer

CO Place & 

Governance

Tier 1

CO Assets

Tier 1

Assistant CE

Innovation & 

Commercial

Tier 2

Programme 

Director

Transformation & 

Operating Model

Tier 3

Assistant CE

Policy Performance 

& Economic 

Development 

Strategy 

Tier 2

Programme 

Director 

Workington

Tier 3

Programme 

Director

Maryport

Tier 3

AONB

Communications & 

Marketing

Corporate Strategy 

& Policy

Housing Strategy

Human Resources

Nuclear Policy

Performance

Spatial Policy

Strategic Economic 

Strategy

Capital 

Programmes & 

Projects

Commissioning

Commercial

Contract 

Management

IT

Procurement

Programme Office

Benefits

Bereavements

Building Cleaning

Building 

Maintenance

Estates

Engineering

Business Support

Debt Recovery

Finance & Payroll

Harbour

Health Safety 

Emergency 

Planning & 

Resilience

Parks & Open 

Spaces

Parking Services

Pest Control

Property Services

Public Convenience

Revenues

Sports & Leisure 

Services

Temporary 

Accommodation

Waste Admin

Workington Nature 

Partnership

Visiting Officers

Assurance Risk & 

Audit

Building Control

Business Support

Business Place & 

Community

Community Safety 

& Resilience

Crisis & Prevention

Data Protection

Democratic & 

Electoral

Enforcement

Environmental 

Health

Gypsies & 

Travellers

Homelessness

Housing Operations

Land Charges

Legal

Licensing

Planning

Scrutiny

Business Support

Customer Services

Fulfilment

Post Room

Housing Company

Maryport 

Regeneration

Destinations

Events

Markets

Tourism

Workington 

Regeneration

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 98



2020/2021

SCP

1 17,842£   1,486.83£    9.25£     

2 18,198£   1,516.50£    9.43£     

3 18,562£   1,546.83£    9.62£     

4 18,933£   1,577.75£    9.81£     

5 19,312£   1,609.33£    10.01£   

6 19,698£   1,641.50£    10.21£   Business Support

7 20,092£   1,674.33£    10.41£   

8 20,493£   1,707.75£    10.62£   

9 20,903£   1,741.92£    10.83£   

11 21,748£   1,812.33£    11.27£   

12 22,183£   1,848.58£    11.50£   

14 23,080£   1,923.33£    11.96£   

15 23,541£   1,961.75£    12.20£   

17 24,491£   2,040.92£    12.69£   

19 25,481£   2,123.42£    13.21£   

20 25,991£   2,165.92£    13.47£   

22 27,041£   2,253.42£    14.02£   

23 27,741£   2,311.75£    14.38£   

24 28,672£   2,389.33£    14.86£   

25 29,577£   2,464.75£    15.33£   

26* 30,451£   2,537.58£    15.78£   

27 31,346£   2,612.17£    16.25£   

28 32,234£   2,686.17£    16.71£   

29 32,910£   2,742.50£    17.06£   

30 33,782£   2,815.17£    17.51£   

31 34,728£   2,894.00£    18.00£   

32 35,745£   2,978.75£    18.53£   

33 36,922£   3,076.83£    19.14£   

34 37,890£   3,157.50£    19.64£   

35 38,890£   3,240.83£    20.16£   

36 39,880£   3,323.33£    20.67£   

37 40,876£   3,406.33£    21.19£   

38 41,881£   3,490.08£    21.71£   

39 42,821£   3,568.42£    22.20£   

40 43,857£   3,654.75£    22.73£   

Senior Business Support

Specialists * bar for career graded posts

Managers/Senior Specialist

Senior Manager/Strategic Advisor Tier 1

Senior Manager/Strategic Advisor Tier 2 Senior Manager/Strategic Advisor Tier 2 690+

Senior Business Support 370 - 429

Specialists 430 -529

Managers/Senior Specialist 530 - 649

Senior Manager/Strategic Advisor Tier 1 650 -689

Job Family Pay Structure

Business Support

Grade Salary Monthly Hourly

up to 279

Job Family Title Points

OperativesOperatives

280 -369

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 100



Allerdale Borough Council 

Council – 22 September 2022 

Local Government Reorganisation  

 
 
Portfolio holder   Councillor Mike Johnson, Leader of the Council 

 

Report from Sharon Sewell, Chief Officer: Governance & Place and 
Monitoring Officer 

Wards affected   All  

Is this a key decision  No  
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To update Council on the Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) process and 
seek delegated authority for the Chief Executive to represent the Authority’s 
interests in the transitional work required in the reorganisation project  

 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, be authorised to 
represent the authority’s position and work with Cumbrian authorities on the 
implementation of reorganisation, including negotiating the draft Structural Changes 
Order with MHCLG;  

2.2 To formally establish a cross-party working group comprising two members from 
each of the Political Groups;  

2.3 To note that further reports will be brought to Council where appropriate.  
  

3.0  Background  

 
3.1     The Secretary of State in July 2021 announced his decision, subject to 

Parliamentary approval, to implement a proposal for two unitary councils on an 
East-West geography for the whole of the administrative county of Cumbria. The 
decision will mean the replacement of all principal authorities with a new unitary 
Council for the area comprising Barrow, South Lakeland and Eden and one for the 
area comprising Copeland, Allerdale and Carlisle.  

3.2 The Secretary of State will seek Parliamentary approval for secondary legislation to 
implement the two unitary authority proposal and a draft Structural Changes Order 
(SCO) will be laid in Parliament “around the turn of the year”. The SCO will include 
provision for the appropriate transitional arrangements, including for elections in 

Page 101

Agenda Item 13



May 2022 for the future unitary councils, and for those councils to assume the full 
range of local authority responsibilities on 1 April 2023.  

3.3  Government will discuss with Chief Executives and senior officers in Cumbria 
details to be included in the SCO and meetings are being arranged to discuss these 
matters further and how the programme of transition will be managed. MHCLG is 
actively encouraging discussions and input to the SCO, however, it is important to 
acknowledge that its content is a decision made by the Secretary of State. 

4.0  Local Government Reorganisation: Transition Programme 

 
4.1      The Cumbria Chief Executives meet regularly to progress the transition programme 

for the reorganisation and have now reached the stage where it has been agreed in 
principle. They will now be focusing on mobilising the programme, allocating 
resources and starting the work to establish the new councils. The programme will 
start formally on 14 September. In its first phase the programme has four parts: 

 Produce high level option appraisals for service areas; 
 Collate and analyse the wide range of information and data needed to allocate 

resources and to establish the new councils; 
 Develop in more detail a Benefit Realisation Plan, setting out the ambitions 

and key outcomes for the new councils; 
 Gather information and views to inform the drafting of the Structural Changes 

Order.  

4.2  Each area of work in the programme will be strengthened by the three key themes: 
People, Place and Enabling. Each theme will be sponsored and led by Senior 
Officers from the District Councils and County Council. Additional capacity and 
support for the programme will be required and opportunities will be offered to staff 
from the District Councils and County Council.  

4.3 An informal cross-party working group has been set up within Allerdale Borough 
Council and the Working Group will be kept informed of progress and their views on 
issues under discussion will be sought as and when required. This report also seeks 
to formalise that Working Group.  

5.0 Finance/Resource implications 

5.1  The county Chief Finance Officer group is currently working on establishing the 
transitional costs and other financial implications of the LGR process.  

6.0 Legal and governance implications  

6.1  The Monitoring Officer is represented at weekly meetings of the Cumbria Monitoring 
Officer group which considers the legal and governance implications of the LGR 
process and advises the Chief Executive group and the Governance Working 
Group accordingly.  

  

 

Page 102



7.0 Risk analysis 

  

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

CEO is not fully 
authorised to 
represent the 
authority’s position 

Allerdale’s position is 
weakened in the LGR 
discussions  

Cross party working 
arrangements; 
council support for 
engagement with 
process 

Low 

 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

N/A  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

N/A  

 
 
Report author and contact officer: 
Lindsay Tomlinson 
Electoral Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 878657  

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 22 September 2021 

 

Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Report from    Co-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  No 
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 
 
1.1 To update Council on the activities and recommendations of the Committee since the 

last meeting. 
 
2.0  Recommendations 
 
2.1  That Members note the content of the report. 
 
3.0   Background and Introduction 
 
3.1   This is a regular report that comes to each meeting of Council. The purpose of the report 

is to provide Council with an update and overview of the activities of the Committee 
 
3.2   The work of the Committee is described in the paragraphs below. Any member wanting 

more information on any of the topics mentioned or to see reports or interim reports 
should contact the Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships). 

 
4.0   Update on activities since last report 
 
4.1   Referral from Council meeting 28 July 2021 
 

At its meeting on 2 September the Committee considered the item referred from Council 
to examine the responses and actions resulting from the Local Government 
Ombudsman decision and associated concerns highlighted at the meeting. 
 
The Committee determined that the matter of the Ombudsman finding was referred to 
Audit Committee to consider the deficiency that this finding may illustrate and that the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee should receive a report regarding the issues raised in 

Page 105

Agenda Item 14



the referral then based on the findings decide what level of scrutiny of the provision is 
required. 

 
4.2   Response to the Pandemic Task and Finish Group report 
 

The Response to the Pandemic Task & Finish Group produced a summary report of its 
activities which include a number of recommendations to Executive/Council. A copy of 
the report is attached. 

 
4.3  Outside body representative reports 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been considering update reports from the 
Council’s representatives on other scrutiny groups and committees. This is to set the 
Committee’s activities in the context of other scrutiny work which impacts on the work of 
the Council and local residents. 
 
The Committee has also been seeking to ensure all the Council’s representatives to 
outside bodies are providing a regular update on their activity and involvement, covering 
the breadth of the organisations benefiting from the Council’s representatives and not 
just those specifically focused on scrutiny activity.  
 
The Committee is yet to receive one report. 

 
4.4   Strategic partner selection 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviewed the proposed appointment of Mott 
McDonald as "strategic partner" and recommended to Executive that the terms of the 
appointment should include provision for Mott McDonald to give evidence to OSC and to 
Audit Committee when required. 

 
4.5   Keswick Spa 

The Committee reviewed decision to close the pool at Keswick Spa and will revisit the 
issue when plans for provision in Keswick are more advanced. 

 
4.6  Future work programme 
 

The future items being developed for this year’s work programme include task and finish 
groups focusing on leisure provision, community leadership and local support for 
children and young people, which now are being refocused to consider the issues in the 
context of the recently announced Local Government Reorganisation proposals. As ever 
these groups are open to Members who are not Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
Executive members. 

 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s):  
Report authors – Councillor Michael Heaslip and Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes 
Contact officer name – Ian Hinde 
Job title – Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships) 
Email address – ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk    Tel no. 01900 516664 

Page 106

mailto:ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk


1 
 

  

Final Report of the  

Response to the Pandemic  

Task and Finish Group   

 

September 2021 
 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 Page 107



2 
 

Background and membership 

This report summarises the work of the Task and Finish Group exploring the Council’s 

approach to dealing with and developing its response to the pandemic. 

The group members were: 

 Councillor Michael Heaslip (chair) 

 Councillor Peter Kendall 

 Councillor Elaine Lynch 

 Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes 

 Councillor Paul Scott 

 

The following Terms of Reference were agreed:  

 

  Consider and scrutinise the effects of the pandemic on Council services and operations 

including how the Council responded and how services have been adapted  

  Consider and scrutinise the ‘test and trace’ scheme and its local implementation  

  Question any under-performance or significant variances caused by the pandemic 

response and highlight any valuable lessons learned or specific concerns in case of a 

similar situation  

  Note all completed work and highlight / commend strong performance  

 Identify any short, medium or long term actions arising which could improve 

operational performance and corporate resilience to future waves of Covid-19 (or any 

other pandemic/emergency scenario)  

  Make recommendations for any improvements 

 

National and legal context 

The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which present a risk to 

the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and management is covered by the 

following: 

 

1. Public Health England (Health and Social Care Act 2012) 

2. Directors of Public Health (Health and Social Care Act 2012) 

3. Chief Environmental Health Officers (Public Health (Control of Infectious Disease) Act 

1984) 

Page 108



3 
 

4. NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups 

5. Other responders: specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents (Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004) 

6. The Coronavirus Act 2020 

 

Local authorities (specifically through public health and environmental health) together with 

Public Health England have primary responsibility for the delivery and management of public 

health actions to be taken in relation to outbreaks of communicable disease through local 

health protection partnerships. 

 

The initial response in Cumbria 

The initial response was set up as detailed below (highlighted aspects only, more groups and 

sub-groups were developed for different areas of need): 

 

 Directors of Public Health have primary responsibility for the health of their 

communities and this applies to Cumbria 

 The Health Protection Board met weekly and an incident management hub (including 

Allerdale Borough Council staff) met daily including weekends. 

 Daily incident management meetings included all the district councils, Public Health 

England, NHS, the public health staff team at Cumbria County Council and the Director 

of Public Health. 

 Outbreak control teams would meet when required: for example an Education 

Outbreak Control meeting to discuss cases linked to schools, this was daily due to new 

cases in schools arising each day; and the Care Home Outbreak control was also 

meeting daily – Allerdale staff were not part of this but would receive minutes and 

contact trace staff for their out of work contacts. 

 
All incidents and outbreaks were discussed at the daily meetings which worked extremely 

well and those involved felt it meant they get the right information, guidance and advice. All 

districts and agencies felt these meetings were having a positive effect and members learned 

a lot and felt valued with great confidence in this approach. 

 

A daily operating group met daily through the working week to set actions and have longer 

practical discussions about cases. 

 

The Director of Public Health was required to produce an outbreak control plan. These 

documents can be accessed here: 

 

Outbreak Control Plan Part 1 – Strategy, Management and Oversight 
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/535/17941/17942/44012124112.pdf 
 

Page 109

https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/535/17941/17942/44012124112.pdf


4 
 

Outbreak Control Plan Part 2 – Operational Response 
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/535/17941/17942/44012124238.pdf 

 

The initial response by Allerdale Borough Council  
 

The meetings in response to track and trace referred to above began in May. The requirement 

to be involved in additional meetings has been over and above environmental health officers’ 

regular responsibilities, which were already being impacted with regulation changes 

regarding food and occupational health.    

 

Allerdale staff were involved in following up individuals identified through track and trace 

with direct contact (distanced as appropriate) and providing advice to food businesses, other 

businesses, following up incidences for example of homelessness issues as well as dealing 

with complaints or reports from the public and carrying out enforcement where required. 

 

The Task and Finish Group appreciated the overview of the local response and was both 

satisfied with work being done and impressed with commitment and dedication of the staff 

involved working beyond their regular roles and hours. 

 

The Group noted that the success of our work in controlling the outbreak was entirely 

dependent on the efficacy of the national testing system in identifying infected persons and 

speedily communicating their details to our tracing teams. There were grave concerns, across 

the country, as to whether the testing system is working effectively: this was something the 

Task Group agreed to continue to keep in view. 

 

Second phase 

 

At the conclusion of its initial meeting the group became aware of the effect of the pandemic 

locally on children and families, which had been the subject of a recent webinar hosted by 

West Cumbria Child Poverty Forum. This generated these two meetings focusing on this topic. 

The first meeting looked at the issues identified through the webinar and the work of local 

organisations delivering community based services. The second meeting arose from the 

group’s concern to understand more about solutions being delivered both currently and 

potentially in the future. Over two meetings the group had presentations from and 

discussions with the Research Fellow in Social Inclusion and Community Development at 

UCLan, and the Council’s Chief Executive, the Policy Manager (Health) and the manager of the 

Local Focus Hub. 
 

The effect on children and families 

 

In May 2020 West Cumbria Child Poverty Forum had published a rapid response paper 

highlighting the issues affecting families during lockdown. The key findings centred around 

three themes: wellbeing, education and hardship.   

Page 110

https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/535/17941/17942/44012124238.pdf


5 
 

 

In November 2020 the Forum then held a webinar attended by over 70 people centred on 

building a therapeutic community around children experiencing poverty:  

 

"In order to realise their potential as individuals and active citizens, children 

require an environment that fosters personal growth. They need to form 

relationships with others in an atmosphere of trust and security, they need to be 

valued, accepted and supported by those around them and they need to take real 

responsibility for themselves, others and their environment" (Oxford Health 

Complex Needs Service, 2018). 

 

Outcomes and recommendations from the webinar, being informed by national and regional 

evidence, are: 

 highlighted by this pandemic, food security and digital inclusion should be recognised 

fundamental human rights and all children should have access to these;  

 schools are significant anchor institutions in communities and should be recognised 

accordingly; 

 together we (agencies) must champion the benefits of collaboration and data sharing; 

 we must approach working with people from the basis of relationships not 

transactions – “let’s work together”, not “I’ll do this to you”; 

 we must trust in local expertise and the abilities of local community groups by sharing 

power;  

 we must listen to, and respond to, the voice of the child; and 

 finally but perhaps firstly we must ensure our approach is positive and inclusive, 

starting with considering the language we use and avoid defining or categorising 

people and areas by the words we use (such as deprived). 

 

The first session concluded with an exploration of what the Council could consider towards 

these recommendations, following the suggestion that these could be to: 

 

 fulfil statutory and discretionary obligations;  

 adopt a relational way of working (doing with not doing to); 

 reframe approaches to families experiencing poverty (language and attitudes); and  

 involve children and young people when possible. 

 

This progressed the discussion towards acquiring further knowledge about current work in 

the area and the potential to expand this approach to other communities across the borough. 

Innovation in responsiveness and developing solutions 

 

The second meeting focused on recent work in the Moorclose area seeking to understand 

community wants and needs of residents of all ages, and then on the initial work to begin to 

meet some of those with practical projects. 

Page 111



6 
 

 

Also in this meeting the group heard about the work of the Allerdale Local Focus Hub in 

addressing the problems faced by some young people caught up in the justice system as a 

result of numerous incidents and circumstances experienced in their lives to date. A 

partnership of 21 agencies including the emergency services, public sector, third sector and 

housing associations, the purpose is to promote inter agency working and push forward a 

partnership approach to problem solving, and improve the way we deliver services in local 

communities through a shared understanding of the ‘whole problem’, so that where gaps in 

services exist these can be addressed by the most relevant partner. 

 

Finally the group heard about other developments locally, focusing on the work of the 

Children and Families Partnership to bring about the changes being sought and implemented 

through its approach. 

 

The research at Moorclose involved both adults and young people carrying out ‘connected 

communities’ research, supervised by UCLan, which identified all the strengths of the area 

alongside specific issues for particular groups of people. Just before the pandemic took hold, 

the results of the research were shared with the community and the efforts of the researchers 

were celebrated. While such celebration might be easily viewed as ‘just a bit of fun’, it 

becomes a hugely important aspect of concluding a project when involving and working 

alongside people in their communities. Following on from the research, a group formed to 

develop initiatives and the first activity with local people has managed to get started, even 

though the lockdown has meant different approaches needed to be adopted. Link to the 

presentation:  Stronger Together Moorclose for ABC TFG.pptx 

 

This chart shows the percentage of children in Allerdale living in poverty 2019 (End Child 

Poverty, 2019) 

Ward* Before housing costs After housing costs 

Allerdale area 19% 28% 

Ewanrigg  29.7% 37.3% 

St Michael’s  25.6% 34.1% 

Wharrels 20.9% 32.6% 

Moss Bay  29.1% 37.0% 

Aspatria  20.9% 32.6% 

Flimby 29.7% 37.3% 

Solway 20.9% 32.6% 

Ellenborough 22.3% 30.5% 

Holme 20.9% 32.6% 

Moorclose  21.3% 32.2% 
*All these ward names refer to pre-2019 boundary changes. As a result the Wharrels ward no longer exists and 

no comparisons can be made with any post-2019 ward areas.    

 

Page 112

https://msuclanac-my.sharepoint.com/:p:/g/personal/swilson21_uclan_ac_uk/Ebx-qLKd59lNlDupuuPDDxoBTKZqfiqX5hXtTzqWrD0Teg


7 
 

The principle behind the UCLan supported Connected Communities approach is that in 

everyday practice services are designed to integrate the value of social and community assets 

and networks in achieving wellbeing and inclusion outcomes. 

 

The approach has a broad range of intended outcomes, for example: 

 

Individual outcomes:    Build capacities and resilience which can potentially offer various 

educational, employment or personal development opportunities. 

 

Community outcomes:    Enhanced community assets and address community needs, 

promoting self-reliance, pro-social behaviour and independence, 

measured though the Community Capital Framework (wellbeing, 

capacity, citizenship, social value) – part of the Connected 

Communities approach.  

 

Social outcomes:   Well-connected residents, both within their own neighbourhoods 

and local services, measured through self-reported measures and 

social network analysis. Reframed police-community perceptions, 

measured through increased police reporting, focus groups and 

interviews with the police and community, and case studies of 

collaborative working.  

 

The group was interested in developing this approach across the borough and discussed how 

this might be possible, both by working with UCLan and involving other partners as or when 

appropriate. While recognising that there were clear reasons for the initial focus to be on the 

Workington area, as the figures quoted above indicate, other areas of the borough also 

require a focused and concerted effort to address the local conditions. 

 

The significance of the highlighted adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) the group heard 

about, and the manifestation of these causing issues for the partners working together as the 

Local Focus Hub, underlined the need for a different approach, echoing earlier the work in 

Moorclose and the results of the webinar. 

 

Based on experiences of prior local short term project based work, the group expressed 

concerns for exit strategies to be better planned, and ensure the continuity of funding for 

required services. The group also recognised the potential for the Council to promote and 

gain the maximum public value through its contracts and commissioning. 

 

The group then heard about the four priorities of the recently formed Children and Families 

Partnership, chaired by the Council’s Chief Executive, which cover: 

 early help and early intervention (recognising the importance of the first 1000 days of 

a child’s life); 

 healthy weight and physical activity; 

Page 113



8 
 

 youth unemployment and skills; and 

 parenting support (for young parents in particular, including pre-conception). 

 

The approach involves identifying both current provision and any gaps in that provision and 

making clear an expectation that it is incumbent on organisations to work to reduce local 

barriers,  to create easy access to services, and to promote data sharing in getting beyond the 

experience of people being passed around from service to service.  

Recognising the scale of the task in West Cumbria is important, however because this may 

involve less than 200 families in total, it ought to be possible for the Partnership’s approach 

to make a significant difference.  

Part of the solution, again building on and complementing the work of everyone involved in 

all of the work described to the group and here above, is the availability of a ‘trusted adult’ 

for young people needing support.  

These trusted adults may be found in any of the organisations engaged in the partnership 

approaches described, but the most important aspect of building this trust is that the work is 

done with people not to people. This might encourage the greatest difference when it is in 

conjunction with staff working for all the partner agencies having the support and willingness 

to be able to ‘do things differently’ at their own initiative.  

 

Roll out across the borough 

 

Members were keen to understand what would enable the Council to potentially implement 

a ‘connected communities’ or similar approach in other areas of the borough, particularly to 

support those areas regularly highlighted in significant data sets such as the indices of child 

poverty. 

 

The group was concerned that while the pandemic had meant many organisational barriers 

were quickly addressed to enable response work to be initiated, and that the experience was 

similar in some ways to community responses to the flooding events which the area has 

previously experienced, once the situation begins to normalise the benefits are potentially 

going to be lost as services return to their regular work. The questions around what will help 

to embed the positive changes and increase community resilience remain unanswered for 

now, however recognising there is a need for all partners to explore this further is a major 

first step. 

 

The delivery of services beyond the pandemic 

 

Having considered aspects of the effects of the pandemic on the community, the group 

decided to focus the third set of sessions on any resulting effects on the delivery of services 

and the staff team delivering those services. Over two meetings the group had presentations 

from and discussions with the Head of Transformation and the Chief Executive. 

Page 114



9 
 

 

The proposed future operating model was being based on research and surveys of staff 

attitudes as well as taking account of changes in the external world. 

 

The intended model is to provide options for services to be accessed online, using a principle 

of being able to speak to someone when needed and using technology when not, for example 

paying a bill. Contact with officers would be available as necessary though the preferred form 

of contact for many interactions would be through other methods, mainly online. 

 

The proposed future working model for staff is a hybrid of working from home and time in 

the office, though as a result of the pandemic most staff have been working from home. Some 

emergency response services have had staff working from the offices. 

 

The Group recommended that care be taken to ensure that this would not lead to a scattered 

provision and were concerned to ensure staff would gain some grounding in how the 

organisation works, especially newer staff. 

 

Members also recommended  that councillors are assisted to understand these changes and 

new staff arrangements or responsibilities to help them with any queries. 

 

Members further recommended that due consideration be given to the legitimate 

expectations of citizens to have access to the Council and its services in ways appropriate to 

their circumstances, so far as possible, and that any transformation of service provision 

should consider “purpose” as the starting point, with “purpose” defined by outcomes for 

citizens, measured in their terms. 

 

Members recalled that humans are social animals and value face to face contact in public 

offices and elsewhere, and the pandemic has cut many off from social contact: a pandemic 

response which reinforces isolation rather than promoting human contact is unlikely to meet 

the expectations of all citizens. 

 

Innovation in responsiveness and developing solutions 

 

The second meeting focused on discussion with the Chief Executive to understand the 

proposals for changes to the operating model and consequently to the staffing structure to 

deliver these proposals.  

 

A key feature of the new model is dealing with as much work as possible at the frontline, 

enabling front line staff to resolve issues at first contact wherever possible without necessarily 

referring to the “back office”. It is recognised that this may involve significant changes in skills 

and knowledge for staff at the “front office”, with consequences for their training and 

development. It is also recognised that not everyone will want to or be able to work in this 

Page 115



10 
 

way, and that staff have different strengths and are best used in ways which enable them to 

develop those strengths. 

 

Capital programmes are at the heart of the Whitehall approach to pandemic recovery, and 

the new model will need to recognise this and deploy people with the appropriate strengths, 

skills and knowledge to work in that context. 

 

Members recalled that the original purpose for which District Councils were called into being 

was Public Health, and most District Council functions have their origins in measures to 

protect and improve health. The pandemic has been a salutary reminder to us (if not yet to 

Whitehall) of the centrality of local public health to the well-being of the country, and any 

pandemic recovery measures need to include innovation in how we better approach securing 

the health and well-being of our citizens.  

 

Conclusion 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commends this Task and Finish Group report and its 

recommendations to Council.  

Page 116



11 
 

Recommendations 

 

The Task and Finish Group makes the following recommendations:  

 

1. This authority and its successor authority should continue to recognise the importance 

of the environmental health officers’ role in public health, infection control and 

responses to sudden, extreme public health concerns as highlighted by the pandemic. 

2. The Council should consider the principles and approaches outlined in this report to 

be embedded in its Resilient Communities Strategy and approach, incorporating a 

model of community development which focuses on working with people and 

communities and includes councillors as collective community leaders in their areas.   

3. The Council should ensure communities are able to take advantage of opportunities 

created by new funding programmes, for example Wigton in the Borderlands 

initiative. 

4. The Council should be at the forefront of new approaches by creating opportunities  

a –  for staff to develop their skills in relational work with communities 

b –  for communities to be supported to adopt the approaches outlined in this report, 

including undertaking research then developing projects based on the results.  

5. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should explore the potential for public value to 

be achieved through the Council’s contracts, commissioning and other funding. 

6. The Council should collect appropriate data and/or conduct research to ensure service 

levels from the perspective of the citizen are the same or better since the 

implementation of any changes. 

7. The Council must ensure the staff team is supported to understand, implement and 

deliver through any changes to service delivery models and practices. 

8. Councillors must be supported to effectively support residents as a result of any 

service or staffing changes. 

  

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes
	125 Portfolio Holder updates
	28 July 2021 Question 3 Bin Delivery Dashboard June 21
	Director of Public Health Cumbria email response received on 170821


	8 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service
	9 Portfolio Holder Reports
	10 Executive Minutes
	11 Reference from Audit Committee 13/09/21 - Treasury Management Annual Review 2020/21
	Treasury Management Annual Review 2020-21

	12 Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022
	Appendix A - Pay Policy Statement final
	Appendix B - Amendment to Constitution
	SMT Functions Structure Chart
	SMT Functions 12082021.vsdx
	Page-1


	Job Families

	13 Local Government Reorganisation
	14 Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Pandemic Response TFG  Final Report


